Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited take
no responsibility for the contents of this announcement, make no representation as to its accuracy or
completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in
reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this announcement.

QO 7 15 I

CHINA COME RIDE NEW ENERGY GROUP LIMITED
RERERHEREBAR AT

(Formerly known as KNK Holdings Limited 77 27 &5 1R BB 7R G R 23 7])
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

(Stock Code: 8039)

ANNOUNCEMENT OF ANNUAL RESULTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023

The board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of China Come Ride New Energy
Group Limited (the “Company”) is pleased to announce the audited consolidated results of
the Company and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) for the financial year ended 31
March 2023. This announcement, containing the full text of the Annual Report 2022/2023 of
the Company, complies with the relevant requirements of the GEM Listing Rules in relation
to information to accompany preliminary announcements of first quarterly results.

By order of the Board
China Come Ride New Energy Group Limited
Zhou Renchao
Chairman

Hong Kong, 18 April 2024

As at the date of this announcement, the executive Directors are Mr. Zhou Renchao, Mr. Chung Yuk Lun and
Mr. Cao Dayong; and the independent non-executive Directors are Ms. Lai Pik Chi, Peggy, Mr. Leung Tsun
Ip and Mr. Liu Jianting.

This announcement, for which the Directors collectively and individually accept full responsibility, includes
particulars given in compliance with the GEM Listing Rules for the purpose of giving information with
regard to the Company. The Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that to the best of
their knowledge and belief the information contained in this announcement is accurate and complete in all
material respects and not misleading or deceptive, and there are no other matters the omission of which
would make any statement herein or this announcement misleading.

This announcement will remain on the “Latest Listed Company Information” page of the Stock Exchange
website at www.hkexnews.hk for a minimum period of 7 days from the date of its publication and on the
Company’s website at www.8039.com.hk



CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED
(THE “STOCK EXCHANGE”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate small and mid-sized companies to which
a higher investment risk may be attached than other companies listed on the Exchange. Prospective
investors should be aware of the potential risks of investing in such companies and should make the
decision to invest only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that
securities traded on GEM may be more susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded on the
Main Board and no assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of this
report, make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for
any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of China Come Ride New Energy Group Limited (the “Company”)
collectively and individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the GEM (the “GEM Listing Rules”) for the purpose of giving information
with regard to the Company. The Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that to the best of their
knowledge and belief the information contained in this report is accurate and complete in all material respects and
not misleading or deceptive, and there are no other matters the omission of which would make any statement herein
or this report misleading.
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CHAIRMAN STATEMENT
ERRE

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of Directors (the “Board” or “Directors”) of
the Company, | am delighted to present to you the annual report of
the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) for the
year ended 31 March 2023 (“Year”).

REVIEW

The Group was successfully listed on GEM on 12 December 2016.
The proceeds raised have strengthened the cash position of the
Group with the aim of recruiting additional professional staff to
provide services to both existing and new customers.

For the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group recorded an
increase in revenue of approximately HK$9.6 million or 26.8% to
approximately HK$45.4 million compared with the previous financial
year. Such increase was mainly due to the revenue contribution
from projects with relatively large contract sum. At the same time,
the Group incurred a gross profit margin of approximately 15.5%
in the Year compared with a gross profit margin of approximately
28.8% last year.

The Group recognised a loss of approximately HK$4.6 million
for the year ended 31 March 2023 compared with a profit of
approximately HK$0.6 million for the year ended 31 March 2022,
The loss was mainly attributed from (i) decrease of gross profit
due to the increase in material and labour costs, (i) increase of
administrative expenses, and (iii) the loss allowance on ECL and
contract assets which was not a factor for the year ended 31 March
2022.

The responsible Director and senior management are aware
of the regulatory reporting and compliance requirements in
the architectural industry, and will continue to keep abreast of
their development in additional to change of general business
environment.
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OUTLOOK

Going forward, the Group will continue to actively explore new
opportunities and/or business diversification such as the new
energy industry, and also plan to extend new business geographical
coverage such as the mainland China. These strategic directions
aim to capture new business opportunities in the market and
contribute satisfactory long-term returns to our shareholders.
Such achievements depend on whether we can attract competent
professionals to join the Group.

On behalf of the Board, | would like to take this opportunity to
express my sincere gratitude to the Group’s shareholders, bankers,
customers and business partners for their continuous support,
and to our management and staff members for their diligence,
dedication and contribution to the growth of the Group.

Zhou Renchao
Chairman and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 18 April 2024
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK

The Group is principally engaged in the provision of comprehensive
architectural and structural engineering consultancy services in
Hong Kong. During the financial year ended 31 March 2023, the
Group continued to focus on developing business opportunities
with existing customers as well as working on those referrals from
them. At the same time, the Group plans to expand the types of
architectural-related services when opportunities arise.

Revenue of the Group increased by approximately HK$9.6 million
or 26.8% from approximately HK$35.8 million for the year ended 31
March 2022 to approximately HK$45.4 for the year ended 31 March
2028. The Group recorded a loss for the year ended 31 March 2023
of approximately HK$4.6 million, representing approximately HK$5.2
million decrease as compared with a profit of approximately HK$0.6
million incurred for the year ended 31 March 2022. The reasons of
such changes are set out in the section Financial Review below.

Going forward, while actively exploring new businesses
opportunities, the Group also plans to extend its business reach
and expand service coverage to lay a foundation for our long-term
development. These strategic directions aim to capture new
business opportunities in the market and contribute satisfactory
long-term returns to our shareholders. Riding on the advantageous
geographical location and the recovery momentum in both Hong
Kong and mainland China economies, the Group will not limit
its development in Hong Kong but also explore new business
opportunities in mainland China to widen the Group’s revenue base.

Despite the fact that there are improvements after the COVID-19
pandemic, the future development of the political and economic
environment still remain uncertain. The Group will continue to
seek a minimum risk exposure by bargaining better terms from
sub-contractors, minimising expenses, securing projects and
closely monitoring recoverability of the receivables to keep the
operations of the Group as usual.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue

The Group’s revenue is generated from the contract revenue from
provision of comprehensive architectural and structural engineering
consultancy services in Hong Kong, including licensing consultancy,
alteration and addition works and minor works consultancy,
inspection and certification and other architectural related
consultancy.

The Group’s total revenue for the year ended 31 March 2023 was
approximately HK$45.4 million (2022: approximately HK$35.8
million), representing approximately HK$9.6 million or 26.8%
increase compared to the financial year ended 31 March 2022.
Such increase was mainly due to the revenue contribution from
projects with relatively large contract sum.

The gross profit margin of the Group for the year ended 31 March
2023 was approximately 15.5% (2022: gross profit margin was
approximately 28.8%). Such decrease was mainly due to the
revenue contribution from projects with lower profit margin under
current economic environments. In particular revenue contribution
from projects with large contract sum but thin profit margin and
increase in project direct costs.

General and administrative expenses

The Group’s total general and administrative expenses for the
year ended 31 March 2023 was approximately HK$11.5 million
(2022: approximately HK$9.3 million), representing an increase
of approximately HK$2.2 million or 23.7% when compared to the
corresponding period in 2022. Such increase was mainly due
to increase in (i) legal and professional fees on handling various
compliance and legal issues and (i) listing compliance fees.

Loss for the year

The Group recorded a net loss attributable to owners of the
Company of approximately HK$4.6 million for the year ended 31
March 2023 (2022: net profit attributable to owners of the Company
of approximately HK$0.6 million). The turnaround from profit to loss
was mainly attributed from (i) decrease of gross profit due to the
increase in material and labour costs, (ii) increase of administrative
expenses and (iii) the loss allowance on ECL and contract assets
which was not a factor for the year ended 31 March 2022.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND
CAPITAL STRUCTURE

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group financed its
operations by cash flow from operating activities and equity
financing by placing. As at 31 March 2023, the Group had net
current liabilities of approximately HK$0.7 million (2022: net current
assets of approximately HK$3.3 million), including cash and cash
equivalents of approximately HK$4.0 million (2022: approximately
HK$3.1 million). The current ratio, being the ratio of current assets
to current liabilities, was approximately 0.9 times as at 31 March
20283 (2022: approximately 1.4 times). The decrease in current ratio
mainly due to increase of trade and other payables. The gearing
ratio, being total debts over the equity, was approximately 1.4 times
as at 31 March 2023 (2022: 0.6).

The capital of the Group comprises only ordinary shares.
Total equity attributable to owners of the Company amounted
to approximately HK$3.9 million as at 31 March 2023 (2022:
approximately HK$8.5 million).

EMPLOYEE INFORMATION

Total staff and Directors’ remuneration for the year ended 31 March
2023 was approximately HK$16.6 million (2022: approximately
HK$18.2 million). Such decrease was mainly due to the decrease in
staffs’ salaries. The Group’s remuneration policies are formulated
on the basis of performance, qualifications and experience of
individual employee and make reference to the prevailing market
conditions. Our remuneration packages comprise monthly fixed
salaries and discretionary year-end bonuses based on individual
performance, which are paid to employees as recognition of, and
reward for, their contributions.

CHARGES ON THE GROUP’S ASSETS

The Group did not have any charge arranged with any financial
institution in Hong Kong as at 31 March 2023 (2022: Nil).

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

The revenue and business costs of the Group were principally
denominated in Hong Kong dollars, and as such the exposure to
the risk of foreign exchange rate fluctuations for the Group was
minimal. Hence, no financial instrument for hedging was employed.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES

During the year ended 31 March 2023, neither the Company nor
any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed any of the
Company’s listed securities.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

No material contingent liability had come to the attention of the
Directors in the year ended 31 March 2023 and up to the date of
this report.

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Save as disclosed herein, up to the date of this report, there was no
significant event relevant to the business or financial performance
of the Group that comes to the attention of the Directors after the
year ended 31 March 2023.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

1E"ﬁ:«&$ﬁth

Pursuant to Rule 18.44 of the GEM Listing Rules, the Board is
pleased to present this corporate governance report for the year
ended 31 March 2023. This report highlights the key corporate
governance practices of the Company.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to achieving high standards of
corporate governance to safeguard the interests of the shareholders
and enhance its corporate value. The Company’s corporate
governance practices are based on the principles and code
provisions as set out in the Corporate Governance Code under
Appendix C1 of the GEM Listing Rules (the “CG Code”).

The Company had complied throughout the Year with all the code
provisions as set out in the CG Code except with the following
deviation:—

(1) Code provision A.2.1

Code provision A.2.1 requires that the roles of chairman
and chief executive should be separate and should not be
performed by the same individual.

Mr. Zhou Renchao was appointed as chairman of the
Company on 1 September 2022, is responsible for formulation
of corporate strategy and business development. All executive
Directors, being Mr. Chung Yuk Lun, Mr. Cao Dayong and Mr.
Zhou Renchao provide the Board with strong and consistent
leadership to ensure that the Board works effectively and
acts in the interest of the Company. The daily operation and
management of the Company is monitored by the executive
Directors as well as the senior management. All Directors
(including the independent non-executive Directors), being
experienced individuals, are encouraged to make active
contributions to the Board’s affairs and promoting a culture
of openness and debate. Based on the above, the Board is of
the view that following appointment of the chairman Mr. Zhou
Renchao, the Company had complied with Code provision
A.2.1 of the CG Code.
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(2) Rules 5.05(1) and 5.28 of GEM Listing Rules

Following the resignation of Ms. Chan Yuk Chun and Ms.
Mabel Lee on 19 September 2022, the Company failed to
meet the requirements of (i) having at least three independent
non-executive Directors on the Board under rule 5.05(1) of
the GEM Listing Rules and (ii) having a minimum of three
non-executive directors in the Audit Committee under rule
5.28 of the GEM Listing Rules.

Following the appointment of Mr. Leung Tsun Ip and Ms. Lam
Yuen Man Maria as independent non-executive Directors and
members of the Audit Committee on 1 October 2023, the
Company has complied with the requirements of Rules 5.05(1)
and 5.28 of the GEM Listing Rules.

Following the resignation of Ms. Lam Yuen Man Maria on 10
January 2024, the Company failed to meet the requirements
of (i) having at lease three independent non-executive
Directors on the Board under Rule 5.05(1) of the GEM Listing
Rules; (i) having a minimum of three non-executive Directors
in the Audit Committee under Rule 5.28 of the GEM Listing
Rules; and (iiij the Remuneration Committee chaired by an
independent non-executive Director under Rule 5.34 of the
GEM Listing Rules.

Following the appointment of Mr. Liu Jianting as independent
non-executive Directors and the chairman of the
Remuneration Committee, a member of the Audit Committee
on 28 February 2024, the Company has complied with the
requirements of Rules 5.05(1), 5.28 and 5.34 of the GEM
Listing Rules.

Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors

The Company has adopted the required standard of dealings as set
out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules as its code of
conduct for dealing in securities of the Company by the Directors
(“Model Code”). Having made specific enquiries to the Directors, all
of them confirmed they had complied with the required standard of
dealings as set out in the Model Code throughout the Year.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Composition of the Board

Up to the date of this annual report, the Board comprises three
executive Directors and three independent non-executive Directors.
Details of their composition by category are as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Zhou Renchao
Mr. Chung Yuk Lun
Mr. Cao Dayong

Independent non-executive Directors

Ms. Lai Pik Chi, Peggy
Mr. Leung Tsun Ip
Mr. Liu Jianting

The biographical details of the Directors are set out under the
section headed “Biographies of Directors and Senior Executives” in
this report.

The updated list of Directors and their role and function are
published at the HKEXnews website (www.hkexnews.hk) and the
Company’s website (www.8039.com.hk).

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover in respect
of legal action against the Directors.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company has adopted a Board Diversity Policy in order
to enhance the quality of Board’s performance and to achieve
sustainable and balanced development of the Group.

Policy Statement

The Company believes that a balanced and diversified board
composition can provide different and relevant perspectives and
insights that facilitates the Board to discharge its duties and
responsibilities effectively.

The Company sets out a range of factors and aspects in
considering, determining and assessing the Board diversity,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge
and length of service, and any other factors that the Board may
consider relevant and applicable from time to time.
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Measurable Objective

The ultimate decision will be based on merit and contribution
that the selected candidates will bring to the Board, having due
regard to the benefits of diversity on the Board. The Board will
also consider having an appropriate proportion of directors with
direct experience of the Group’s business, with different ethnic,
professional and industry backgrounds.

Review, Monitoring and Disclosure

The Nomination Committee is responsible for reviewing the Board
Diversity Policy and monitoring the related implementation and
progress made towards achieving the measurable objectives from
time to time.

Our Board Diversity Policy is also published on the Company’s
website.

As of 31 March 2023, our Board has achieved a female-to-male
gender ratio of 2:4 and our Directors have collaborated different
skills and experiences individually and collectively, including but
not limited to financial and accounting, information technology and
business administration.

Independent Non-executive Directors

In compliance with Rules 5.05(1) and (2), and 5.05A of the GEM
Listing Rules, the Company has appointed three independent non-
executive Directors representing at least one-third of the Board, and
with at least one of them possessing the appropriate professional
qualifications or accounting or related financial management
expertise. The independent non-executive Directors, together with
the executive Directors, ensure that the Board prepares its financial
and other mandatory reports in strict compliance with the relevant
standards. The Company has received an annual confirmation
of independence from each of the independent non-executive
Directors and believes that their independence satisfies the criteria
set out in Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules.
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The Board

The Board has the responsibility for leadership and control of the
Group. The Directors are collectively responsible for promoting the
success of the Group by directing and supervising the Group’s
affairs. The Board is accountable to shareholders of the Company
(the “Shareholders”) for the strategic development of the Group
with the goal of maximizing long-term Shareholders’ interest, while
balancing broader stakeholder interests. The Board has delegated
the day-to-day responsibility to the executive Directors and senior
management of the Company who meet on a regular basis to
review the financial results and performance of the Group and
make financial and operational decisions for the implementation
of strategies and plans approved by the Board. The Board also
communicates with the Shareholders and regulatory bodies and
makes recommendations to the Shareholders on issues relating to
interim and final dividends.

Board Meetings and Attendance

The Board meets in person or through electronic means of
communication to determine overall strategic direction and
objectives and approve quarterly, interim and annual results, and
other significant matters. The Board held 8 meetings during the
year ended 31 March 2023.

The Board meets regularly on a quarterly basis. Notice of at least
14 days is given to all Directors for a regular Board meeting. Apart
from the regular Board meetings, the Board also meets on other
occasions when a Board-level decision on a particular matter is
required. For such, reasonable notice is given. All Directors have full
and timely access to all relevant information as well as the advice
and services of the company secretary of the Company (“Company
Secretary”), senior management and compliance officer of the
Company who are responsible for ensuring the compliance of the
Company with the GEM Listing Rules and advising the Board on
compliance matters. Directors are also provided with access to
independent professional advice, where necessary, in carrying out
their obligations as Directors of the Company. Any Directors and
their associates who are considered to have conflict of interests
or material interests in the proposed transactions or issues to be
discussed in the Board meetings shall abstain from voting on the
relevant resolutions and are not to be counted in the quorum at
meetings.
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The Company Secretary is responsible to keep minutes of all Board
meetings and committees meetings. Draft minutes are normally
circulated to all Directors for comments within a reasonable time
after each meeting and the final versions are open for Directors’
inspection.

Relationships between the Board

There are no financial, business, family or other material
relationship among the Directors. The biographical details of each
of the Directors are set out in the section headed “Biographies of
Directors and Senior Executives” of this annual report.

Directors’ Continuing Professional
Development Programme

Each Director receives comprehensive and formal induction and
orientation to ensure he/she adequately understand the operations
and business of the Group. The Company also provided detailed
director’s responsibilities and obligations statement pursuant
to the GEM Listing Rules for the Director to review and study.
In addition, materials in relation to regularly update on latest
development in relation to the GEM Listing Rules, other applicable
regulatory requirements and the Group’s business and governance
policies (the “Reading Materials”) were circulated to the Directors.
Continuing briefings and seminars for the directors will be arranged
as necessary. The Directors are encouraged to participate in
continuous professional developments to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills periodically.
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During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Directors participated in
the continuous professional developments in the following manner:

BE-_ZE-_=F=A=1+—BIEE BFN
THFRZEFEEEERTE

Attending
seminars/
Reading courses/
Name Materials conferences
HEEHRE
e R B AR RE g8
Executive Directors BITES
Mr. Zhou Renchao B %4
(appointed on 1 September 2022) (RZFZZFNHA—HEZH) v
Mr. Chung Yuk Lun BRI AE v 4
Mr. Cao Dayong BREBXAE v
Independent non-executive Directors BIYFHITEE
Ms. Lai Pik Chi Peggy REZ L+ v v
Mr. Leung Tsun Ip REFELEE
(appointed on 1 October 2022) (RZFZZF+H-HEZF) v v
Ms. Lam Yuen Man Maria M E 22+
(appointed on 1 October 2022 and (R-ZFEZ_—F+H-HAEZLLY
resigned on 10 January 2024) RZFZF—H+HE) v v
Ms. Chan Yuk Chun @Efﬁﬁ(i
(resigned on 19 September 2022) (RZFZZFNHA+/HEFEF) v v
Ms. Mabel Lee F2B I+
(resigned on 19 September 2022) (RZFZZFNHA+NHEFFEF) v v
APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF EENEEREE

DIRECTORS

In accordance with the Articles of Association of the Company
(“Articles”), at each general meeting, one third of the Directors for
the time being and any Directors appointed to fill a casual vacancy
on the Board or appointed as an addition to the Board should be
subject to election by shareholders at the following general meeting
after his appointment (or if their number is not a multiple of three,
then the number nearest to but not less than one third) shall retire
from office by rotation provided that every Director shall be subject
to retirement at an annual general meeting at least once every three
years. The Directors to retire by rotation shall include any Director
who wishes to retire and not offer himself for re-election. Any
further Directors so to retire shall be those who have been longest
in office since their last re-election or appointment but as between
persons who became or were last re-elected Directors on the
same day, those to retire will (unless they otherwise agree among
themselves) be determined by lot.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established the Audit Committee, the Nomination
Committee and the Remuneration Committee in order to maintain
high standard of corporate governance within the Company.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee has been established with written terms of
reference in compliance with Rules 5.28 of the GEM Listing Rules
and code provision C.3.3 and C.3.7 of the CG Code. The Audit
Committee currently comprises three independent non-executive
Directors and is chaired by Ms. Lai Pik Chi, Peggy. The other
members are Mr. Leung Tsun Ip and Mr. Liu Jianting.

The primary duties of the audit committee are to make
recommendations to the Board on the appointment, reappointment
and removal of external auditors; review the financial statements of
the Company and areas involving judgements in respect of financial
reporting; and oversee financial reporting system, internal control
procedures, risk management system and continuing connected
transactions of the Company. All members of the Audit Committee
are appointed by the Board.

The Audit Committee has met its responsibilities to review the
Group’s quarterly reports, interim report and audited annual
results for the year ended 31 March 2023 and provided advice and
comments thereon.
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A summary of work performed by the Audit Committee during the
Year is set out as follows:

(i) recommended to the Board on the re-appointment of auditor;

reviewed with the external consultant on the risk management
and internal control systems, assessment on any potential
special risks to be encountered by the Company and review
on the effectiveness of the risk management and internal
control system;

reviewed with the external auditor on the effectiveness of
audit process and the accounting principles and practices,
the accuracy and fairness of the annual consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31 March 2023; and

(i)

(iv)

reviewed the first quarterly, interim and third quarterly results
of the Company for the year ended 31 March 2023.

The Audit Committee held 3 meetings during the year ended 31
March 2023.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee has been established with written
terms of reference in compliance with code provision A.5.2 of
the CG Code. The Nomination Committee currently comprises
three independent non-executive Directors and is chaired by Mr.
Zhou Renchao. The other members are Mr. Leung Tsun Ip, Mr. Liu
Jianting and Ms. Lai Pik Chi, Peggy.

The primary duties of the nomination committee are to review the
structure, size and composition of the Board on regular basis;
identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board members;
assess the independence of independent non-executive Directors;
and make recommendations to the Board on relevant matters
relating to the appointment or re-appointment of Directors. All
members of the Nomination Committee are appointed by the Board.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Nomination Committee
reviewed and discussed the structure, size and composition of
the Board; made recommendation on the appointment of new
Directors and re-election of the retiring Directors; and confirmed
the independence of the independent non-executive Directors. The
Nomination Committee held 2 meetings during the year ended 31
March 2023.
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NOMINATION POLICY AND PROCEDURES

The Board has adopted a Nomination Policy that sets out the
principles, criteria and procedures for selecting, assessing, and/
or recommending Board candidates. The Nomination Committee
is responsible for evaluating a series of key factors, including but
not limited to the following criteria, in the process of selecting,
assessing, and/or recommending Board candidates.

(i) Skill, experience, qualifications and achievements that are
relevant and appropriate for the business operations of the
Group;

(i) Commitments and independence;
(i) Reputation and integrity;
(iv)  The Board Diversity Policy (as mentioned above); and

(v)  any other relevant and material factors as may be considered
by the Nomination Committee.

The Board has also established nomination procedures summarized
as follows:

(@) Appointment of New Director

The Nomination Committee must evaluate the proposed
candidate based on the selection criteria mentioned
above and make recommendations to the Board regarding
whether the proposed candidates are fit and proper for the
directorship appointment.

(b) Re-election of Director at General Meeting

Retiring Directors are eligible for nomination by the Board to
stand for re-election at the general meeting according to the
Articles of the Company.

The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should review
the overall contribution, participation and performance
of the retiring Director and the Board should then make
recommendation to the Shareholders in respect of the
proposed re-election of Director at the general meeting.
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The Company will send out a circular to shareholders
providing information of the candidates nominated by
the Board to stand for election at a general meeting. The
information provided includes but not limited to the names,
brief biographies, independence, proposed remuneration and
any other material information of the proposed candidates.

(c) Proposal by Shareholders

For candidates proposed by shareholders who serve a notice
to the Company Secretary, the Nomination Committee should
also evaluate such candidates in accordance to the same
selection criteria and make recommendation to the Board. The
Company will send a supplementary circular to shareholders
providing the particulars of the proposed candidates.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee has been established with written
terms of reference in compliance with code provision B.1.2 of the
CG Code. The Remuneration Committee currently comprises three
independent non-executive Directors and is chaired by Mr. Liu
Jianting. The other members are Mr. Zhou Renchao, Ms. Lai Pik
Chi, Peggy and Mr. Leung Tsun Ip.

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee are to make
recommendation to the Board on the overall remuneration policy
and structure relating to all Directors and senior management of our
Group; review performance-based remuneration; and ensure none
of the Directors determine their own remuneration.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Remuneration
Committee reviewed and made recommendation on the
remuneration package of Directors and senior management of the
Group and assessed the performance of executive Directors. The
Remuneration Committee held 2 meetings during the year ended 31
March 2023.
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Directors’ Attendance Record at Meetings

Details of the attendance of the Directors at the meetings of the
Board and its respective committees during the year ended 31
March 2023 are as follows:

EEgSLETE
BE-FT-=4=A=t+—BLFE EER
EFGRAZEREGHIHFHENT

Audit Nomination Remuneration
Board Committee Committee Committee General
Name of Director Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting
£V ZER REZEE ¥HzEg

Bspg Exges g3 e& - REAE
Executive Directors BiES
Mr. Zhou Renchao ACBEE

(appointed on 1 September 2022) (REF-—FNH-HEZfF) 4/4 N/AT i A N/ATE A N/ATE A 11
Mr. Chung Yuk Lun EEBAE 88 NATER AT NATEE 11
Mr. Cao Dayong BRBEE 8/8 NARER NATE A NATE A 11
Independent non-executive Directors BIXHTESE
Ms. Lai Pik Chi, Peggy RES 4t 8/8 33 22 2 1
Mr. Leung Tsun Ip RicREEHE

(appointed on 1 October 2023) (R=E-=F1H—-HEZ() 3/3 2/2 = = =
Ms. Lam Yuen Man, Maria S e

(appointed on 1 October 2023 and ( /Ft E-EFA-HEZFY

resigned on 10 January 2024) REE-BE—FTAFE) 3/3 2/2 = = =
Ms. Chan Yuk Chun K?B%Ci

(resigned on 19 September 2023) (REE-ZENA1NAFRE) 4/4 17 2/2 2/2 =
Ms. Mabel Lee F2% ﬁti

(resigned on 19 September 2023) (R-FZZFNATHAFL) 4/4 1/1 2/2 2/2 =
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION EERBAE

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance
duties in accordance with code provision D.3.1 to the CG Code
which included to develop and review the Company’s policies
and practices on corporate governance, to review and monitor
the training and continuous professional development of Directors
and senior management of the Company, the issuer’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements and
to review the issuer’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure
in the Corporate Governance Report.
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AUDITOR AND THEIR REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 March 2023, remuneration paid and payable
to the auditor of the Group (the “Auditor”) are approximately
HK$550,000 (2022: HK$520,000) for audit services. There was no
significant non-audit service provided by the auditor of the Group
for the year.

Director’s Acknowledgement

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements which give a true and fair view
of the financial position of the Group. The Directors are not aware
of any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions which
may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue
as a going concern.

Auditor’s Statement

The statement of the Auditor about their reporting responsibilities
on the Company’s financial statements for the year ended 31 March
2023 is set out in the section “Independent Auditor’s Report” of this
report.

Financial Reporting

The Management has provided to all Directors quarterly updates
with quarterly consolidated financial statement of the Company’s
performance, position and prospects in sufficient details during the
regular Board meetings. In addition, the Management has provided
all members of the Board, in a timely manner, updates on any
material changes to the performance, position and prospects of the
Company and sufficient information for matters brought before the
Board. The Management will spare no effort to provide all members
of the Board with more detailed and promptly monthly updates
giving a balanced and understandable assessment of the issuer’s
performance, position and prospects in sufficient detail in coming
future.
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INTERNAL AUDIT FUNCTION

The Company does not have an internal audit department and
engaged an external internal control consultant to conduct review
on the internal control system of the Group for the year ended 31
March 2023. The review identified the findings in internal control
system of the Company, the risks associated with operating units
of the Company and the recommendations to rectify the findings in
internal control systems and to lower the risks identified.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Board has reviewed
the effectiveness of the Control Systems in respect of financial,
operational and compliance aspect annually and considers that the
Control Systems are adequate and effective.

The Board has also reviewed the adequacy of resources, staff
qualifications and experience and training programmes of the
Group’s accounting and financial reporting functions, and consider
that they are adequate.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has overall responsibilities for the establishment
and maintenance of an adequate and effective Control System
to safeguard the Group’s assets against unauthorized use or
disposition, and to protect the interests of the shareholders of
the Company. The Board believes that the risk management and
internal control system of the Group is adequate and effective and
will continue to assess, monitor and revise our risk management
and internal control system.

Based on the risk identification and risk evaluation, the Company
will manage the risks as follows:

Strategic Risks

Competitor landscape, risk of failure to meet customers’
expectation, risk of over concentration of customer bases and
risk of failure to maintain a competitive edge in terms of industry
innovation and process improvement

The Group will continue to diversify its customer bases and maintain
its competitiveness by providing training on latest development in
industry innovation and operation.
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Operational Risks

Insufficient trainings to employees, loss of business opportunity,
risk of information leakage, concentration of decision maker, decline
in experienced staff, risk of failure to complete work before deadline
and increase in operating costs.

The Group continues to provide competitive remuneration package
to maintain its professional team and looks for opportunity to
recruit suitable calibre to join the Group to capture more business
opportunities.

Financial Risks

Liquidity risk, credit risk, foreign exchange rate risk and interest rate
risk

The management will closely monitor the credit risk and liquidity
risk attributable to the Group’s major financial instruments should
there be any significant exposure arose in the future.

The Group conducts its business mainly in Hong Kong dollar and
thus does not have exposure to foreign currency risk.

The Group’s interest rate risk relates primarily to its interest-bearing
other borrowings subject to review on expiry/renewal date. The
Group does not use any derivative contracts to hedge its exposure
to interest rate risk. However, the management will consider
hedging significant interest rate risk should the need arise.

Compliance Risks

Risk of non-compliance of ordinances related to safety, health and
environment and risk of legal disputes.

The Group has a code of conduct in place for compliance with
relevant ordinances by its staff.

The Board acknowledged that it had received a confirmation from
the management on the effectiveness of the risk management
and internal control systems of the Group for the Year. The Audit
Committee and the Board, upon reviewing the said systems,
were not aware of any significant issues that would have an
adverse impact on the effectiveness and adequacy of the Group’s
operational, financial and compliance areas of the systems.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Chung Yuk Lun joined the Group as the Executive Director and
the Company Secretary since 28 December 2020. The biographical
details of the Company Secretary are set out under the section
headed “Biographies of Directors and Senior Executives” of this
annual report. In accordance with the Rule 5.15 of the GEM Listing
Rule, the Company Secretary has taken no less than 15 hours of
relevant professional training during the year ended 31 March 2023.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHT

Procedures for the Shareholders to convene an
extraordinary general meeting

Pursuant to the Articles, any one or more members holding at the
date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid
up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at general
meetings of the Company shall at all times have the right, by written
requisition to the Board or the Company Secretary, to require an
extraordinary general meeting (the “EGM”) to be called by the Board
for the transaction of any business specified in such requisition.

Such meeting shall be held within two (2) months after the
deposit of such requisition. If within twenty-one (21) days of such
deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting the
requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may convene a physical
meeting at only one location which will be the Principal Meting
Place, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s)
as a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the
requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Procedures for the Shareholders to put their
enquiries to the board

The Company endeavors to maintain two way communications
with the Shareholders through various channels. The Shareholders
are encouraged to send their enquiries about the Group by mail to
the principle address of the Company. All the enquiries are dealt
with in a timely manner. The Shareholders are also encouraged
to attend annual general meeting (the “AGM”) and EGM of the
Company and to put their enquiries to the Board directly. Notices
are duly being circulated to the Shareholders in order to ensure
each Shareholder is informed to attend the AGM and the EGM.
The Chairman of the Board, chairmen of each of the Remuneration
Committee, Nomination Committee and Audit Committee and the
senior management attend the aforesaid meetings and respond
proactively to the Shareholders’ enquiries. The detailed procedures
for conducting a poll are set out in the notices of such meetings.
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INSIDE INFORMATION

The Company has established and its Directors are aware of the
procedures and internal controls for the defining, safeguarding,
handling and dissemination of inside information under the
obligations and requirement of Securities and Futures Ordinance
(Cap. 571) (the “SFO”) Part XIVA. The key provisions include, but
not limited to:

1. All Directors, senior management and relevant employees are
required to report potential inside information, upon identified,
to the executive Directors and/or Company Secretary as an
official channel for informing all members of the Board;

2. The executive Directors are required to assess whether the
attributes of the potential inside information and relevant
impact on the price of the Company’s securities;

&) All Directors, senior management and relevant employees
are required take reasonable due care for safeguard the
confidentiality of unpublished inside information;

4, All Directors, senior management and relevant employees
are constantly reminded not to deal in the Company’s
securities when they are in possession of unpublished inside
information.

B All Directors are empowered and required to ensure timely,
fair and comprehensive dissemination of inside information,
including issuing announcements and/or requesting trading
halt in situation of unexpected and significant event.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company believes that maintaining a high level of transparency
is a key to enhance investor relations. It is committed to a policy
of open and timely disclosure of corporate information to its
shareholders and investment public.

The Company strengthens its communications with shareholders
and investors through various channels including publication of
interim and annual reports, press releases and announcements
regarding the latest developments of the Company in its corporate
website at www.8039.com.hk in a timely manner.
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CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

Pursuant to Rule 17.102 of the GEM Listing Rules, the Company
has published on the respective websites of the Stock Exchange
and the Company its Articles. During the year ended 31 March
2023, the amended and restated memorandum of association, and
second amended and restated articles of association were adopted
by a special resolution passed on 30 September 2022 and to take
effect on 3 October 2022.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy pursuant to the
Company’s Articles and relevant rules and regulations, including the
relevant GEM Listing Rules.

Qur dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”) is intended to set
forth the principles and guidelines in relation to the declaration,
payment or distribution of the Company’s profits as dividend to the
Shareholders.

In determining a proposed dividend and dividend amount, the
Board shall take into account, inter alia, the following factors:

1. the general market conditions;
2. the financial performance of the Group;
&) the liquidity position of the Group;

4, the working capital requirements and future development
plans of the Group;

5, the retained earnings and distributable reserves of the
Company;

6. any commercial and/or contractual restrictions imposed on
the Group by relevant stakeholders;

7. the statutory and regulatory restrictions which the Group is
subject to; and

8. any other relevant factors that the Board may deem
appropriate.

Subject to the Company’s Articles, the Board may decide dividends
are to be paid in cash, or wholly or partly in the form of allotment of
shares, or by issuance of bonus shares on a basis permitted by the
applicable laws and regulations.
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The payment of dividend by the Company is subject to any
restrictions under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands and
the Articles.

Final dividends declared by the Company must be approved by
an ordinary resolution of the Shareholders at AGM and must not
exceed the amount recommended by the Board. The Board may
not declare dividend in consideration of various factors, such as
reserving sufficient capital for future development.

The Board may from time to time pay the Shareholders such
interim and/or special dividends as it considers to be justified by
the profits and/or assets level of the Group. There is no assurance
that dividends will be paid in any particular amount for any specific
period.

The Board will from time to time review the Dividend Policy and may
exercise at its absolute and sole discretion to update, amend and/
or modify the Dividend Policy at any time as the Board deems fit
and necessary.

This Dividend Policy is published on the Company’s website for
investors’ information.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR EXECUTIVES

ESRERITHRAEZERE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Zhou Renchao, aged 42, was appointed as an executive
director and the Chairman on 1 September 2022. He is also
the Chairman of nomination committee as well as a member of
remuneration committee. Mr. Zhou graduated from the University
of Electronic Science and Technology of China in 2005 with a
bachelor’s degree in Computer Networking. Mr. Zhou has more than
15 years of experience in enterprise management and technology
industries.

In July 2019, Mr. Zhou co-founded Come Ride Internet Technology
(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd., and in September 2018, Mr. Zhou co-founded
Avanti Blockchain Technology (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. to undertake
the development of computer software, blockchain technology and
new energy battery technology business. Mr. Zhou co-founded
Yunnan Guanke Information Technology Co., Ltd. from 2008 to
2018 to undertake the development and application of computer
software and hardware business. Mr. Zhou joined Chengdu Avanti
Technology Co., Ltd. (“Chengdu Avanti”) in 2006. In October 2008,
Mr. Zhou acquired majority interest in Chengdu Avanti to undertake
the development of computer software, and computer system
services business.

Mr. Chung Yuk Lun, aged 63, was appointed as an executive
director on 28 December 2020. He is also company secretary and
authorised representative of the Company as well as a director
of certain subsidiaries of the Company. He has over 30 years’
management experience at board level in a number of listed
companies in Hong Kong.

Mr. Chung is currently (i) an executive director, company secretary,
authorized representative and consultant of Elegance Optical
International Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 907); and (ii) the
company secretary of QPL International Holdings Limited (Stock
Code: 243).

Mr. Chung is a fellow member of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants, an associate member of The Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants, a fellow member of The
Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales and an
ICAEW Business and Finance Professional.

During the past 3 years, Mr. Chung was the company secretary
and authorized representative from 17 March 2017 to 9 March 2023
and 18 December 2023 to 19 March 2024 of King International
Investment Limited (formerly known as Life Healthcare Group
Limited) (Stock Code: 928), and (i) independent non-executive
director from 8 March 2021 to 19 April 2021; and (i) executive
director from 19 April 2021 to 9 August 2021 of CT Environmental
Group Limited (previous Stock Code: 1363, prior to delisting from
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange).
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Mr. Cao Dayong, aged 43, was appointed as an executive
director, compliance officer and authorised representative of the
Company on 20 January 2022. Mr. Cao graduated from University
of Electronic Science and Technology of China in 2009 with a
Master Degree of Engineering in Software Engineering. Mr. Cao has
more than 10 years software engineering and electronic technology
experience.

Mr. Cao founded Sichuan Alphatheta Technology Co., Ltd in 2020
as a director and legal representative. Mr. Cao was a hardware
engineer of Sichuan Zhongdian Kunchen Technology Co., Ltd from
2016 to 2017, a R&D engineer of Huawei digital technologies (Cheng
du) Co., Ltd. from 2012 to 2014, and a R&D engineer of Chengdu
Huawei Symantec Technology Co., Ltd. from 2009 to 2012.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. Lai Pik Chi Peggy, aged 59, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 29 August 2019. She is
also the Chairman of the Audit Committee as well as a member of
the Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee of the
Company. Ms. Lai, has over 20 years of auditing, accounting and
financial management experience.

Ms. Lai is currently an independent non-executive director of
KPa-BM Holdings Ltd (Stock Code: 2663). She was (i) an executive
director of Zhejiang United Investment Holdings Group Limited
(Stock Code: 8366) from 19 July 2021 to 15 March 2024; (i) a
independent non-executive director of CT Environmental Group
Limited (previous Stock Code: 1363, prior to delisting from the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange) from 3 August 2020 to 9 August
2021; and (i) a non-executive director of Larry Jewelry International
Company Limited (previous Stock Code: 8351, prior to delisting
from GEM of the Stock Exchange) from 26 February 2020 to 30
November 2021.

Ms. Lai obtained a master degree of business administration from
the University of Manchester in the United Kingdom in June 2010.
She is a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants and an associate member of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants.
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Mr. Leung Tsun Ip, aged 41, was appointed as an independent
nonexecutive Director on 1 October 2022. He is also a member
of nomination committee, audit committee and remuneration
committee of the Company. Mr. Leung has more than 16 years of
experience in finance and asset management.

Mr. Leung is currently an independent non-executive director of
Zhejiang United Investment Holdings Group Limited (Stock code:
8366).

Mr. Leung received his Bachelor of Science in Risk Management
and his Master of Philosophy in Systems Engineering and
Engineering Management from the Chinese University of Hong
Kong. He is currently a certified Financial Risk Manager (FRM), a
certified Environmental, Social and Governance Analyst (CESGAR),
an associate member of The Hong Kong Chartered Governance
Institute (HKCGI) and The Chartered Governance Institute (CGl) in
the United Kingdom.

Mr. Liu Jianting, aged 44, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 28 February 2024. He is also the
Chairman of remuneration committee as well as a member of audit
committee and nomination committee of the Company. Mr. Liu
graduated from Beijing Jiaotong University with a major in Tourism
English in July 2021. Mr. Liu is currently holding senior carbon
emissions manager and Level 3 health manager qualification in
China, with rich experience in financial investment, marketing
management and team building.

Mr. Liu is currently a major shareholder and a director of a Hong
Kong private limited company China Peak Energy Co., Limited. Mr.
Liu served as the general manager of Yunnan Pingyuan Trading
Co., Ltd. from June 2020 to September 2023, and as the general
manager of Shenzhen Huaying Investment Management Co., Ltd.
from June 2014 to March 2020 in China.
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The Directors are pleased to present their report and the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) for the year ended 31 March
2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND REORGANISATION

The Company was incorporated and registered as an exempted
company with limited liability on 29 July 2015 under the Companies
Law of the Cayman Islands and acts as an investment holding
company. Under a group reorganisation to rationalise the structure
of the Group in preparation for the listing of the Company’s shares
on the GEM of the Stock Exchange, the Company has become the
ultimate holding company of the Group on 21 September 2015. The
address of its registered office is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive,
P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman Islands and its
principal place of business is Unit E, 33rd Floor, Legend Tower, 7
Shing Yip Street, Kwun Tong, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

The Group is principally engaged in the provision of comprehensive
architectural and structural engineering consultancy services.

The Company’s shares have been listed on the GEM of the Stock
Exchange since 12 December 2016.

The change of English name of the Company from “KNK Holdings
Limited” to “China Come Ride New Energy Group Limited”, and the
change of dual foreign name of the Company in Chinese from “
Bl iR IERAERAR to “RBEIREHFEREEER A"
and the proposed amendments to the memorandum and articles
of association of the Company and the adoption of the amended
and restated memorandum and articles of association, were
passed by special resolutions at the AGM held on 30 September
2022, and take effect on 3 October 2022. For details, please refer
to the circular of the Company dated 31 August 2022, and the
announcements of the Company dated 30 September 2022 and 26
October 2022.

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PERFORMANCE

Review of the Group’s Business and
Performance

Details of the review of the Group’s business (including an analysis
using key financial performance indicators) and the possible future
development of the Group’s business are set out in the sections
headed “Chairman Statement” and “Management Discussion and
Analysis” of this annual report.
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Compliance with Laws and Regulations

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group has complied
with the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact
on it.

Environmental Policies and Performance

While the direct impact of the Group’s business to the environment
is minimal due to the nature of our business, we are committed
to providing architectural consultancy services in a manner that
minimises potential adverse impact on the environment. To achieve
this aim, we have adopted a set of environmental protection policies
including but not limited to shutting down lights and various office
electronic equipment when not in use and reducing the paper
consumption.

Relationship with Key Stakeholders

As developing and retaining talents are vital to the Group’s success,
the Group not only provides competitive remuneration packages
and opportunities for career advancement, but also gives support
in different areas to its employees. During the Year, there were no
significant disputes between the Group and its employees.

In addition, the Group also kept maintaining a long-term healthy
relationships with its major customers and subcontractors by
keeping engaging new projects from them and engaging them on
projects that need their participations.

RESULTS

The Group’s results for the year ended 31 March 2023 and the state
of affairs of the Group at that date are set out in the consolidated
financial statements from pages 58 to 127 of this annual report.

The Directors do not recommend payment of any final dividend for
the Year (2022: Nil).

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the past five years is set out in the section headed
“Financial Summary” on page 128 of this annual report. The
summary does not form part of the audited consolidated financial
statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital during the
Year are set out in note 20 to the consolidated financial statements.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the Group’s property, plant and equipment
during the year are set out in note 13 to the consolidated financial
statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
Articles or the laws of the Cayman Islands, the jurisdiction in which
the Company was incorporated, which would oblige the Company
to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing shareholders.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the
Group during the year are set out in note 25 to the consolidated
financial statements and in the consolidated statement of changes
in equity, respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2023, there is no reserve available for distribution to
the shareholders of the Company (2022: Nil).

SUBSIDIARIES

A list of principal subsidiaries together with their places of
operations and incorporation and particulars of their issued share
capital are out in note 26 to the consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the year ended 31 March
2023 and up to the date of the report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Zhou Renchao (Chairman)
(appointed on 1 September 2022)

Mr. Chung Yuk Lun

Mr. Cao Dayong

Independent Non-executive Directors

Ms. Lai Pik Chi, Peggy

Ms. Chan Yuk Chun (resigned on 19 September 2022)

Ms. Mabel Lee (resigned on 19 September 2022)

Mr. Leung Tsun lp (appointed on 1 October 2022)

Ms. Lam Yuen Man Maria (appointed on 1 October 2022 and
resigned on 10 January 2024)

Mr. Liu Jianting
(appointed on 28 February 2024)
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In accordance with the Articles of the Company, Mr. Chung Yuk Lun,
Ms. Lai Pik Chi Peggy, Mr. Leung Tsun Ip and Mr. Liu Jianting will
retire as Directors by rotation and, being eligible, offer themselves
for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting (the
“AGM”).

BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Biographical information of Directors are set out from pages 31 to
33 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

The Independent Non-executive Directors were appointed for a
fixed term of three years under a letter of appointment issued by
our Company. Their appointment is renewable at each general
meeting in which she is standing for re-election and is subject to
(i) the rotation, removal, vacation or termination of her office as a
Director or disqualification to act as a Director as set out in the
applicable laws, the Articles of the Company and the GEM Listing
Rules; and (ii) the terms of the letter of appointment.

There have been no service contracts entered into by the Company
with any of the Directors which contain an unexpired period which
is not determinable by the Company within one year without
payment of compensation (other than statutory compensation).

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTION,
ARRANGEMENT AND CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in the Company’s Prospectus and the related
party transactions as set out in note 22 to the consolidated financial
statements, none of the Directors or entities connected with any of
them has or had any material interest, either directly or indirectly,
in any transaction, arrangement or contract of significance to
the business of the Group to which the Company or any of its
subsidiaries was a party during, or at the end of, the year ended 31
March 2023.

Save as disclosed in the Prospectus, there were no arrangements
subsisting during, or at the end of, the year ended 31 March
2023 to which the Company, its subsidiary(ies), its controlling
shareholder(s), or the subsidiary(ies) of its controlling shareholder(s)
is a party and whose objects were, or one of whose objects was,
to enable Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition
of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body
corporate.

BRIBEARBMEE EEBEL BREZ L
REXEERBZELAEBRERERREBF
ARE(REBFASGDLBFEREEE A
MAEERNMFEEBEEME -

EXENEREEE

EETREEMIENAFHREIIEIZE °

BEERBEEH
BUERATESHREBEAARBFL 2 F K
EZT BErAHA=ZF HZATREF
MEREAHNEERRASREL TR
P ()8 AAE - ARRAR RGEM TR A
Tl  Bh HRUKRIEESEIRMAR
BUBHEEZEEER  R()EFERBER -

ARAMEREFAEETLESEH K E MY
BORBEL  BERARB AR —FARRN
RMECEEBERINMRILEZEFAL -

ESERS  THEREWTHRIE

BRARE R ERKEGA W @R KN E22
B ZEABOTXZMBRBEEIN  RBEE-F
TEFZA=T - BLEFEXRFR EFHE
REBME BB ERARR EAEFM
BRARMALREAEERXRBEBNEARN ZE
MRS RHAANED BEEXHEHEE
EREREE -

RHERERAREEIN RBEE_T_=%F
ZA=ZtT-RALEEERFER ARAF - KN E
NE EEERRRIEZERBRERZHE QA
BER AR R RENEEPR-HENA
EEEEEREARFREMEAMER 2 K
R EEEME S -

2022/2023% %% HPEIRERBIHEREEARAD A 37



REPORT OF DIRECTORS
EEEWRE

CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE WITH
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS

There were no contracts of significance between the Company
or any of its subsidiaries and the controlling Shareholders of the
Company subsisting during the year ended 31 March 2023.

DONATION

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group did not make any
donation (2022: Nil).

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance covering
Director’s and officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions against
its Directors and senior management arising out of corporate
activities. The permitted indemnity provision is in force for the
benefit of the Directors as required by section 470 of Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance when the Directors’ Report prepared by the
Directors is approved in accordance with section 391 of Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or existed during the year.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The remuneration committee was established for reviewing and
determining the remuneration and compensation packages of the
Directors with reference to their responsibilities, workload, the
time devoted to the Group and the performance of the Group. The
Directors may also receive options to be granted under a share
option scheme. The Company has conditionally adopted a share
option scheme. The details of the share option scheme are set out
in the paragraph headed “Share Option Scheme” below.
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF THE
DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES IN
SECURITIES

As at 31 March 2023, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and chief executives of the Company (the “Chief
Executives”) in the ordinary shares with a par value of HK$0.01
each in the Company (“Shares”), underlying Shares and debentures
of the Company or any associated corporation (within the meaning
of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571
of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFQ”)) as recorded in the register
required to be kept under section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
required standard of dealings by directors of listed issuer set out in
rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules (the “Model Code”) were
as follows:
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Approximate
percentage of
Number of issued share
Name of Directors Capacity/Nature of interests share held capital
HERITREAZ
Esps B EmtE RS EE BABD
(Note 3) (Note 2)
(B 5£3) (Bt at2)
New Energy Business Cluster Company Beneficial owner
Limited (Note) 265,865,000 53.93%
New Energy Business Cluster Company EmEAE A
Limited (477%)
Mr. Zhou Renchao (“Mr. Zhou”) (Note) Interest of a controlled corporation 265,865,000 53.93%

BEBxEt(REEDHZE) XEHEEES

Note:

Mr. Zhou owns 85% equity interest of New Energy Business Cluster
Company Limited with the remaining 15% equity interest owned by Mr. Cai
Zhengfeng, which is interested in 265,865,000 shares of the Company,
representing approximately 53.93% of the entire issued share capital of the
Company.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2023, none of the
Directors or the Chief Executives had any interests or short
positions in the Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of the
Company or any associated corporation (within the meaning of Part
XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register required to be kept under
section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS OF THE
COMPANY IN SECURITIES

So far as is known to the Directors and the Chief Executives, as at
31 March 2023, the interests and short positions of the persons or
corporations (other than the Directors and the Chief Executives) in
the Shares or underlying Shares as recorded in the register required
to be kept under section 336 of the SFO were as follows:
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Approximate
percentage of

Number of issued share
Name Capacity/Nature of interests share capital held
LA
ERITROZ
wE LB B ERmtE BB BABD
(Note 2) (Note 3)
(K1 7#2) (K1 7#3)
New Energy Business Cluster Company Beneficial owner
Limited (Note) 265,865,000 53.93%
New Energy Business Cluster Company EmEE A
Limited (47 7%#)
Mr. Zhou Renchao (“Mr. Zhou”) (Note) Interest of a controlled corporation 265,865,000 53.93%

BEBxE((REEDH ZE) XEGEEES

Note:

Mr. Zhou owns 85% equity interest of New Energy Business Cluster
Company Limited with the remaining 15% equity interest owned by Mr. Cai
Zhengfeng, which is interested in 265,865,000 shares of the Company,
representing approximately 53.93% of the entire issued share capital of the
Company.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2023, there was no
person or corporation (other than the Directors and the Chief
Executives) who had any interest or short position in the Shares or
underlying Shares as recorded in the register of interests required
to be kept by the Company under section 336 of the SFO.
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OTHER INTERESTS DISCLOSEABLE UNDER
THE SFO

Save as disclosed above, so far as is known to the Directors, there
was no other person who had interest or short position in the
Shares and underlying Shares that is discloseable under Chapter
18 of the GEM Listing Rules.

RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed under the paragraphs headed “interests and
short positions of the directors and chief executives in securities”
and “share option scheme” in this report, at no time during year
ended 31 March 2023 was the Company or any of its subsidiaries
a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire
benefits by means of the acquisition of Shares in, or debentures of,
the Company or any other body corporate.

Save as disclosed above, at no time during the year ended 31
March 2023 had the Directors and the Chief Executives (including
their spouses and children under 18 years of age) held any interest
in, or been granted, or exercised any rights to subscribe for the
shares (or warrants or debentures, if applicable) of the Company
and its associated corporations (within the meaning of the SFO).

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

During the year ended 31 March 2023, neither the Company nor
any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the
Company’s listed securities.

CONVERTIBLE SECURITIES, OPTIONS,
WARRANTS AND SIMILAR RIGHTS
No convertible securities, options, warrants and similar rights were

issued or granted by the Group during the year ended 31 March
2023.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The purpose of the share option scheme is to enable the Company
to grant options to any employee, adviser, consultant, agent,
contractors, client, supplier, customer and/or such other person,
who in the sole discretion of the Board has contributed or may
contribute to our Group (the “Eligible Participant”). The Company
conditionally adopted a share option scheme (the “Scheme”) on 21
November 2016 which has become effective since 12 December
2016 (the “Effective Date”) whereby the Board are authorised, at
their absolute discretion and subject to the terms of the Scheme,
to grant options to subscribe for the shares of the Company to
the Eligible Participant. The Scheme will be valid and effective
for a period of ten years commencing from the Effective Date.
Terms used below shall have the same meaning as those defined
in the section “D. Share Option Scheme” in Appendix IV to the
Prospectus.

An offer of the grant of option(s) shall be made to an Eligible
Participant by letter in such form as the Board may from time to
time determine requiring the Eligible Participant to undertake to
hold the Option on the terms on which it is to be granted and to be
bound by the provisions of the Scheme and shall remain open for
acceptance by the Eligible Participant concerned until 5:00 p.m. on
the 20th business days following the Offer Date provided that no
such offer shall be open for acceptance after the Scheme Period or
after the Scheme has been terminated.

An Option shall be deemed to have been granted and accepted
when the duplicate of the offer letter as referred to above
comprising acceptance of the Option duly signed by the Grantee
together with a remittance in favour of the Company of HK$1.00
or any other amount as determined by the Board by way of
consideration for the grant thereof is received by the Company
within the period open for acceptance referred to above. Such
remittance shall in no circumstances be refundable.

The subscription price for the shares subject to Options will be a
price determined by the Board and notified to each participant and
shall be the highest of: (i) the closing price of the shares as stated in
the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of offer of
the grant of option, which must be a business day; (ii) the average
closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotations sheets for the 5 business days immediately preceding
the date of offer of the grant of option; and (iii) the nominal value of
a share.
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As at the date of this report, the maximum number of shares
available for issue under the Scheme is 41,800,000 shares,
representing approximately 10% of the issued share capital of the
Company as at the date of adoption of the Scheme.

The Company may at any time refresh such limit, subject to the
shareholders’ approval and issue of a circular in compliance with
the GEM Listing Rules, provided that the total number of shares
which may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding options
granted and yet to be exercised under all the share option schemes
of the Company does not exceed 30% of the shares in issue at the
time of refreshment. An option may be exercised in accordance with
the terms of the Scheme at any time during a period as the Board
may determine which shall not exceed ten years from the date of
grant subject to the provisions of early termination thereof.

The total number of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise
of the options granted and to be granted to each Eligible Participant
(including exercised, cancelled and outstanding options) under the
Share Option Scheme and any other share option scheme of the
Company in any 12-month period up to and including the date of
offer of the grant of option shall not exceed 1% of the total number
of shares in issue for the time being. Any further grant of options in
excess of this limit is subject to shareholder’s approval in general
meeting.

As at the date of this report and since the adoption of the Scheme,
no share option has been granted by the Company.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS, SENIOR
MANAGEMENT AND FIVE INDIVIDUALS WITH
HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS

Details of the emoluments of the Directors, senior management and
five individuals of the Group with highest emoluments are set out in
note 9 to the consolidated financial statements respectively.

COMPETING INTERESTS

As at 31 March 2023, none of the Directors, the controlling
Shareholders and their respective associates (as defined in the
GEM Listing Rules) had any interest in a business which competes
or may compete, either directly or indirectly, with the business of
the Group and none of them had or may have any other conflicts of
interest with the Group.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND
CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Company did not enter
into any connected transactions which required reporting, annual
review, announcements and/or independent shareholders’ approval
under the GEM Listing Rules.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year ended 31 March 2023, there was 1 customer with
revenue contribution approximately 40% of the total revenue of the
Group.

As far as the Directors aware, neither the Director nor their
associates nor any shareholder (which to the knowledge of Directors
own more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had any
interest in that customer of the Group.

For the year ended 31 March 2023, the aggregate revenue to the
top five customers of the Group accounted for approximately 63%
(2022: 30%) of the Group’s total revenue.

Due to the nature of the Group’s business activities, the Group has
no supplier.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions entered into by the Group
are set out in note 22 to the consolidated financial statements.

BORROWINGS

Save as disclosed in note 18 to the consolidated financial
statements, as at 31 March 2023, the Group had no bank
borrowing and no borrowings from independent third parties which
is repayable within one year.
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CHARGES ON THE GROUP’S ASSETS

The Group did not have any charge arranged with any financial
institution in Hong Kong as at 31 March 2023 (2022: Nil).

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

The revenue and business costs of the Group were principally
denominated in Hong Kong dollars, and thus the exposure to the
risk of foreign exchange rate fluctuations for the Group was minimal.
Hence, no financial instrument for hedging was employed.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

No material contingent liability had come to the attention of the
Directors for the year ended 31 March 2023 and up to the date
hereof.

LITIGATIONS

References are made to the announcements of the Company dated
13 July 2020, 21 July 2020, 31 August 2020 and 8 October 2020 in
relation to, amongst others, the Alleged Bond and the Alleged Debt.
The Company received the statement of claim in relation to the
Writ on 8 December 2020 in which the Plaintiff claimed against the
Company, inter alia, HK$5,830,000 being the principal and interest
of the Alleged Debt. The Company is contesting the claim in the
legal proceedings. The Plaintiff and the Company have exchanged
their respective witness statements, Mediation took place but was
unsuccessful. Case Management Summons hearing is scheduled in
23 April 2024.

Reference is also made to the announcement of the Company dated
31 August 2020 in relation to the claim against three ex-directors,
namely Mr. Sun Xiao Li, Mr. Gu Jintai and Ms. Shi Lijie for breach
of fiduciary duties. The writ was lodged at the Hong Kong Judiciary
on 9 November 2020 for service out of jurisdiction through the PRC
Judiciary on them at their last known PRC addresses. As advised
by the legal advisers of the Company in respect of this litigation in
June 2021, service of the writ to them through the PRC Judiciary
was unsuccessful. The Company is considering the legal adviser’s
advice on application for substituted service of the writ to them and
has to locate their address first. However, there is no progress in
locating the whereabout of them as at the date of this report.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive Directors an annual confirmation of independence
pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules and considers all of
them are independent.

2022/20235 % B RERMR A AE

AEEZEEEKF
AREEBWR - E-_=ZF=ZF=+—HIE EET

MEEEMEBRETAERCT
&) e

S BE [ B3

REB W REBRAETEANSTEE

&ﬁEIE%Z%EE OB R B E S e B
CAEBEVEKBAEANeRITAEEYAA

RAEE

HEZZ-_=F=ZA=1+—"RLFEUNREZE

ABREBH EFUEIBINEMERNLA

BfE -

SiEN

ZIRAAARBPA_ZT-_TFLA+=0"
2 -EF+tA-+—H ZZE=-FTFNA
=+ BHER-_Z-_ZFF+ANENRE KA
ER(ETEREBEFREBEER - K=
T_EFF+_ANB ARREEEEZSMK
WERBLE  HPREMARRBER(EAF
B 1%5)5,830,0008 T (BB HEBK N AL R K
ﬂ%%ﬁijﬁﬁ$§ﬁféﬁﬂﬁﬁhM°
RERAARERBFEE S B K HE AR
ﬁ%atﬁ MR ° ;#%ﬁ%?%%
ER-_ZE_NMNFEFOMA-_+=B%817 -

BRRAARNRBHRE T _TFNA=+—
HOQAE  AAEHAERZGEARM=-S
AER(AFREY ALY AREFEEREILR
ZE)RERER - ZSRER_ZT_TF+—
ANBEREBaEHKE LB BHREAE
BEERZEERIIMZSREERSEEH
EHOPEEI - MARARERZBERR T
Z—FANARRERDLAMEN  BERPEF
FHREBZSRERBEELRKI - ARE
BEKZEEMNEREEAERBERIZ
SHRFHEE  HALIRSHEEMMUE - A
RABZEAH ESHREETEHFEH R
BER -

BUtRRE
ARRCEEBIENTESRBEGEMED
RAEE 00 AT RUNFEB L RAE -
FTRAMEZMHARBILAL -

EIEIN

REBEERAF 45



REPORT OF DIRECTORS
EEEWRE

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Save as disclosed herein, up to the date of this report, there was no
significant event relevant to the business or financial performance
of the Group that come to the attention of the Directors after the
year ended 31 March 2023.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Group is committed to promoting high standards of corporate
governance. The Directors believe that sound and reasonable
corporate governance practices are essential for the growth of the
Group and for safeguarding the shareholders’ interests and the
Group’s assets.

The Company’s corporate governance practices are based on
the principles and code provisions as set out in the Corporate
Governance Code (the “CG Code”) in Appendix 15 of the GEM
Listing Rules. Throughout the year ended 31 March 2023 and up
to the date of this report, to the best knowledge of the Board, the
Company has complied with all the code provisions set out in the
CG Code save for the deviations set out in the section headed
“Corporate Governance Practices” in this report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and to the best knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the
Company’s total issued share capital was held by the public as at
the date of this report.

AUDITORS

Mazars CPA Limited resigned as auditor of the Company on 7 May
2021, and ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited (“ZHONGHUI ANDA”),
Certified Public Accountants, was appointed as auditor of the
Company to fill the vacancy with effect from 7 May 2021.

ZHONGHUI ANDA resigned as auditor of the Company on 16 June
2023, and McMillian Woods (Hong Kong) CPA Limited (“McMillian
Woods”), Certified Public Accountants, was appointed as auditor of
the Company to fill the vacancy with effect from 16 June 2023.

A resolution will be submitted to the 2023 AGM to re-appoint
McMillian Woods as auditor of the Company.
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THE MANAGEMENT’S POSITION, VIEW AND
ASSESSMENT ON THE QUALIFIED OPINION

1.

Other Borrowings

The management of the Company (the “Management”) has
considered the auditors’ rationale and understood their
consideration in arriving at the qualified opinion on other
borrowings. The Company has discussed with the auditors
that the qualification on other borrowings will only be
removed when the Company is able to provide all the relevant
documents related to other borrowings that can satisfy
the existence, rights, obligation and completeness of other
borrowings or pertaining to the court judgement related to the
present litigation on other borrowings to be provided to them
or reach a settlement with the purported creditor on other
borrowings.

The Management will continue to take all possible steps and
efforts in order to retrieve all necessary information especially
the receipt record in relation to other borrowings. At the
same time, the Company is contesting the litigation on other
borrowings by engaging lawyers and counsel on behalf of the
Company.

Valuation of financial assets at fair value
through other comprehensive income
(“FVTOCI”)

The Company will continue to negotiate with the controlling
shareholder of the investee, Kin On, to obtain its financial
information at 31 March 2023 for the auditors to assess
the recoverability of the loan to it in order to remove this
qualification.

AUDIT COMMITTEE’S VIEW ON THE QUALIFIED
OPINIONS

Members of the Audit Committee have critically reviewed the basis
for qualified opinions, the Management’s position and actions taken
by the Management for addressing the basis for qualified opinions.
The Audit Committee agreed with the Management’s position and
requested the Management to use its best endeavors to resolve the
qualified opinions.
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PLAN TO ADDRESS QUALIFIED OPINIONS

In order to address the qualified opinions, the Company will discuss
proactively with the auditors the measures to be taken by the
Company to resolve the qualified opinions on other borrowings
and valuation of financial assets at FVTOCI. The qualified opinions
may become unnecessary when other borrowings and valuation of
financial assets at FVTOCI no longer have any effect on the profit
and loss account of the Company in the coming year(s).

On behalf of the board

Zhou Renchao
Director

Hong Kong, 18 April 2024
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McMillanWoods

Professionalism at the forefront

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF CHINA COME RIDE NEW
ENERGY GROUP LIMITED (Formerly known as “KNK
HOLDINGS LIMITED”)

PTERERFEREEERAT

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

QUALIFIED OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Come Ride New Energy Group Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on
pages 58 to 127, which comprise the consolidated statement
of financial position as at 31 March 2023, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to
the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, except for the possible effects of the matters
described in the Basis for Qualified Opinion section of our report,
the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the
consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March 2023,
and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and
have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR QUALIFIED OPINION

1.

50

Scope limitation on other borrowings

As further detailed in note 18 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group had other borrowings of approximately
HK$5.5 million (“5.5m Borrowing”) and stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position of the Group
as at 31 March 2022 and 2023, that were drawn down
by certain former directors (“Former Directors”) through a
subsidiary of the Company during the year ended 31 March
2020. As represented by the management of the Company,
due to a loss of contact with the Former Directors who
resigned or were removed from the board of directors, the
management of the Company was unable to provide us
with sufficient information and explanations to ascertain the
completeness, existence, accuracy, rights and obligations of
5.5m Borrowings as at 31 March 2022 and 2023. There were
no alternative audit procedures that we could adopt to satisfy
ourselves the reliability of management’s representation and
whether the 5.5m Borrowing was fairly stated as at 31 March
2022 and 2028.

A qualified opinion on the same matter was also expressed by
the predecessor auditor in its auditor’s report dated 19 August
2022 in respect of the audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2022
(the “2022 Financial Statements”).

Scope limitation on the valuation of
financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”)

As disclosed in note 15 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group invested in unlisted equity securities,
being 9.68% equity interest in an investee company, Kin On
Engineering (International) Limited (“Kin On”) (the “Investment”)
and accounted for the Investment as financial assets at
FVTOCI with fair value of approximately HK$4,424,000 as at
31 March 2022 and 2023. As at 31 March 2022 and 2023, the
fair value assessments of the Investment had been conducted
by the management of the Company using an adjusted net
assets value approach. The measurement of fair value of
the Investment was mainly based on the audited financial
statements of Kin On for the years ended 31 March 2022
and 2023 issued by another auditor. However, in the absence
of appropriate audit evidence due to our inability to perform
audit work on the financial statement of Kin On, in particular (i)
the recoverability of the loan to a shareholder as shown as the
major assets on the statement of financial position of Kin On
as at 31 March 2022 and 2023; and (ii) the appropriateness
of 5% adopted for discount of lack of marketability, we are
unable to satisfy ourselves as to whether the fair value of
the Investment of approximately HK$4,424,000 as at 31
March 2022 and 2023 were fairly stated. There were no
other satisfactory audit procedures that we could adopt to
determine whether any adjustments to the fair value of the
Investment as at 31 March 2022 and 2023 were necessary.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'’S REPORT
R GTE e

BASIS FOR QUALIFIED OPINION (Continued)

2. Scope limitation on the valuation of
financial assets at fair value through
other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”)
(Continued)

A qualified opinion on the same matter was also expressed by
the predecessor auditor in its auditor’s report dated 19 August
2022 in respect of the audit of the 2022 Financial Statements.

Any adjustments found to be necessary might have consequential
effects on the net assets of the Group as at 31 March 2022 and
2023, the financial performance of the Group for the years ended
31 March 2022 and 2023 and the related disclosures thereof in the
consolidated financial statements.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA’'s Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our qualified opinion.

MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO GOING
CONCERN

We draw attention to note 2 to the consolidated financial statements
which indicates that the Group incurred a loss of approximately
HK$4,644,000 for the year ended 31 March 2023 and, as at 31
March 2023, the Group’s current liabilities exceeded its current
assets by approximately HK$733,000. Based on the current liability
position of the Group, the Group might have financial uncertainties
which may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern. The consolidated financial statements have
been prepared on a going concern basis, the validity of which
depends upon the successful implementation of the directors’ plans
and measures implemented and the Group’s ability to generate
sufficient cash flows to meet its obligations as set forth in note 2
to the consolidated financial statements. Our opinion is not further
modified in respect of this matter.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and
we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. In addition
to the matters described in the Basis for Qualified Opinion and
Material Uncertainty related to Going Concern sections, we have
determined (i) impairment of trade receivables and contract assets;
and (ii) revenue recognition for construction contracts to be the key
audit matters to be communicated in our report.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'’S REPORT
R GTE e

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Impairment of trade receivables and contract
assets

Refer to significant accounting policies in note 3, critical judgements
and accounting estimates in note 5, its relevant disclosures in note
16 and financial risks management objectives and policies in note
23 to the consolidated financial statements.

The Group tested the amount of trade receivables and contract
assets for impairment by estimation of expected credit loss (“ECL”)
under requirements of HKFRS 9. This impairment test is significant
to our audit because the balance of trade receivables and contract
assets of approximately HK$3,912,000 and HK$1,884,000
respectively as at 31 March 2023 is material to the consolidated
financial statements. In addition, the Group’s impairment test
involves application of judgement and is based on estimates.

Our audit procedures included, among others:

— Inspecting settlements after the financial year end relating to
the trade receivables as at 31 March 2023;

—  Assessing the reasonableness of the Group’s ECL models by
examining the model input used by management to form such
judgements, including testing the accuracy of the historical
default data, evaluating whether the historical loss rates are
appropriately adjusted based on current economic conditions
variables and assumptions used in each of the economic
scenarios and their probability weightings and assessing
whether there was an indication of management bias when
recognising impairment losses;

— Engaging a valuation specialist to assist us to review the
appropriateness of the calculation of ECL, the accuracy of the
calculations in the model and the market data being adopted
on a sample basis; and

—  Assessing the disclosures made in the consolidated financial
statements in relation to the Group’s credit risk exposure.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'’S REPORT
R GTE e

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)
Revenue recognition for construction contracts

Refer to significant accounting policies in note 3, critical judgements
and accounting estimates in note 5 and its relevant disclosures in
note 6. The Group recognised revenue from construction contracts
amounting to approximately recognised HK$45,369,000 for the year
ended 31 March 2023.

Contract revenue is recognised progressively over time using the
input method based on direct measurements of the contract costs
incurred to value the contract work performed.

Our audit procedures included, among others:

—  Obtaining an understanding of the key control relating to the
revenue recognition adopted by the Group;

—  Performing a retrospective assessment of the reliability of the
management’s estimation of total contract costs incurred for
completed contracts made;

—  Obtaining an understanding of the performance and status of
all major contracts through discussion with management and
key staff;

—  Performing substantive testing on costs incurred to date;

— Discussing and understanding management’s estimates
for total contract costs and forecast costs, and assessing
the inherent risk of material misstatement by considering
the degree of estimation uncertainty and other inherent risk
factors;

— Comparing the reported percentage of completion for
contracts to the proportion of contract costs incurred to date,
relative to the total estimated contracts costs; and

— Assessing, on sample basis, whether contract revenue
recognised in relation to variation orders met the applicable
criteria in HKFRS 15 “Revenue from Contract with Customers”.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'’S REPORT
R GTE e

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the Company’s annual report, other than the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there
is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required
to report that fact. As described in the Basis for Qualified Opinion
section above, we were unable to obtain sufficient appropriate
evidence from points 1 to 2. Accordingly, we are unable to conclude
whether or not the other information is materially misstated with
respect to this matter.

OTHER MATTER

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 March 2022 were audited by another auditor who
expressed a qualified opinion on those statements on 19 August
2022.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND
AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors of the Company
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'’S REPORT
R GTE e

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND
AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
of the Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee
in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed terms
of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

— Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'’S REPORT

R GTE e

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors of the Company.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee of the Company
regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of
the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee of the Company with a
statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all
relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to
bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to
eliminate threats of related safeguards applied.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'’S REPORT
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From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee of
the Company, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters.
We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when,
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

McMillan Woods (Hong Kong) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Lo Ka Ki
Audit Engagement Director

Practising Certificate Number PO6633

24/F, Siu On Centre, 188 Lockhart Road,
Wanchai, Hong Kong

18 April 2024
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
GeBRaRkEtEEEKER

Year ended 31 March 2023 # % —F -~ =%#=H=1—HIFF/ZE

2023 2022
—E-= —E-F
Note HK$’°000 HK$’000
B = FET FAET
Revenue g 6 45,369 35,816
Cost of services rendered Fr 42 4 AR 75 Ak A (38,320) (25,511)
Gross profit £ 7 7,049 10,305
Other income g A 7 924 352
Loss on deemed disposal of an associate 18 & H & B & A F 2 B8 - (549)
Administrative expenses THAX (11,531) (9,290)
Finance costs B & B A 8 (28) (430)
Impairment losses on trade receivables & 5 & g 2% 78 5 (8 & 18 (664) —
Impairment losses on contract assets EHEEREEBRE (21) -
(Loss)/profit before tax BRBLAT (B E),ER 8 (4,271) 388
Income tax expense Fr8 8 10 (373) E
(Loss)/profit for the year attributable to ~ ANAF B A EBIHFEE
owners of the Company (& 18) i F (4,644) 388
Other comprehensive income FREMZEK R
for the year
ltem that will not be reclassified HErTeEmosEEzEx
subsequently to profit or loss: HIEH :
Fair value change on equity investment & A F{E &5t A E 4th 2 U
at fair value through other = (MR R FEFAEAM
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”) EHEKE]D ZBRERE
NEEEE - 237
Total comprehensive (loss)/income ZARQTEEAEBEEE
for the year attributable to owners 2 H(FE) W E%E
of the Company (4,644) 625
(Loss)/earnings per share sR(ER)BR
Basic H K 11 HK(0.94) cents HKO0.08 cents

&1l

A
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
SEPBIRR R

At 31 March 2023 R=F=-—=#=H=+—H

2023 2022
—_Eg-= —E-F
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5% FET FET
Non-current assets kRBEE
Property, plant and equipment E Yy 13 - 78
Right-of-use assets FERHEERE 14 173 864
Equity investment at FVTOCI BEATEGFAEMEZE 15
W 2 RERE 4,424 4,424
4,597 5,366
Current assets REBEE
Trade and other receivables and B 5 N B e IR A K 16
contract assets EHEE 7,984 8,236
Tax recoverable Ay U [ % I8 344 31
Bank balances and cash RITHEBR R 3,958 3,085
12,286 11,352
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade and other payables B 5 K& H b FE T 3R 17 7,339 1,830
Other borrowings H b {8 3% 18 5,500 5,500
Lease liabilities HEBE 19 180 700
13,019 8,030
Net current (liabilities)/assets TE(BE)AEFE (733) 3,322
Total asset less current liabilities EEHAERRBEE 3,864 8,688
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
SePBRR R

At 31 March 2023 R=F=—=#=H=+—H

2023 2022
—Eg-= —E-_F
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5E FET FET
Non-current liabilities kREBAE
Lease liabilities HEBE 19 - 180
NET ASSETS EEFE 3,864 8,508
Capital and reserves EARREE
Share capital & A 20(a) 4,930 4,930
Reserves E1# (1,066) 3,578
TOTAL EQUITY XA 3,864 8,508

These consolidated financial statements on pages 58 to 127 were
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 18
April 2024 and signed on its behalf by:

Chung Yuk Lun

Director

EBEE

EAEB

EEBENRTEMREHRAV BT HREREN =
“MEMATN\BRE=TS M ERET

WHNATEERKRESE:
Director
BE
Cao Dayong
BEXE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
SLERBEBERR

At 31 March 2023 R=F=-—=#=H=+—H

Attributable to owners of the Company

FRRAERAESE

Fair value Accumulated

Issued Share Other reserve (non- profits/
capital premium reserves recycling) (losses)  Total equity
PYERE
(FABA  BRHAE/
BRITRA RGO EE Hitr k4 B#) (B#8) BEAR
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TET TER TER TER
Note 20(b)() ~ Note 20(b)(ii) ~ Note 20(b)(iii)
it 5E20(0) ) M sE20(0)() P FE20(0)(i)
At 1 April 2021 RZFE-—-FNA-A 4,180 33,785 5,000 - (45,128) (2,163)
Loss and total comprehensive & F518 & 2 F M %
income for the year ok - - - 237 388 625
Issue of share by placing EREERTRN 750 9,525 = = = 10,275
Share issue expenses B EITRX - (229) S = = (229)
At 31 March 2022 RZZ-Z¥=RA=+—H 4,930 43,081 5,000 237 (44,740) 8,508
At 1 April 2022 R-ZE--§MA-A 4,930 43,081 5,000 237 (44,740) 8,508
Loss and total FEFERZ2ERA
comprehensive loss ag
for the year - - - - (4,644) (4,644)
At 31 March 2023 R-ZB-=%=A=+-H 4,930 43,081 5,000 237 (49,384) 3,864
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

SERTRER

Year ended 31 March 2023 # % —F -~ =%#=H=1—HIFF/ZE

2023 2022
—E-= —E-F
Note HK$’°000 HK$’000
B 5E FET FAET
OPERATING ACTIVITIES K& EE
Cash generated from operations KESR S 21(a) 126 57
Income taxes paid BT EH (686) (153)
Net cash used in operating activities EZEFBHFFAR S FHE (560) (96)
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REES
Bank interest received 2 HERITH A 1 —
Payment for purchase of property, BEME BWEK
plant and equipment BB = (67)
Net cash generated from/(used in) wEEEG,(FTA)
investing activities e FHE 1 (67)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES MEEE
Issue of shares BITR G - 10,046
Increase in amount due to ultimate JER &R IER A RIFKIA
holding company 2 2,160 —
Repayment of term loan BEETEHER - (8,234)
Payment of lease liabilities and interests T & & & & | B 5% (728) (757)
Interest paid 24T F & - (384)
Net cash generated from MEITBRBEELTE
financing activities 21(b) 1,432 671
Net increase in cash and ReERBEEEEYWEM
cash equivalents =i} 873 508
Cash and cash equivalents FUOHRERESEEY
at beginning of year 3,085 2,677
Cash and cash equivalents atend of EXEERBELZEEY
year, represented by bank balances (i TE&#HREERE)
and cash 3,958 3,085
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e PR RME

Year ended 31 March 2023 # % —ZE -~ =#=H=1—HIFF/&E

1.

GENERAL INFORMATION

China Come Ride New Energy Group Limited (the “Company”)
is a limited liability company incorporated in the Cayman
Islands and its shares are listed on GEM of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. The addresses of its
registered office and principal place of business are Cricket
Square Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-
1111, Cayman lIslands and Unit E, 33/F., Legend Tower,
7 Shing Yip Street, Kwun Tong, Kowloon, Hong Kong
respectively.

The Company is an investment holding company. The
Company and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”)
are principally engaged in provision of comprehensive
architectural and structural engineering consultancy services.
The principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note
26 to the consolidated financial statements.

In the opinion of the directors, the immediate and ultimate
holding company of the Company is New Energy Business
Cluster Company Limited, a company incorporated in the
British Virgin Islands.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”), which includes all applicable Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”),
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong.
These consolidated financial statements also comply with the
applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “GEM Listing Rules”) and the applicable
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

All amounts have been rounded to the nearest thousand,
unless otherwise indicated.

The Group incurred a loss of approximately HK$4,644,000 for
the year ended 31 March 2023 and as at 31 March 2023, the
Group had net current liabilities of approximately HK$733,000.

— R &R
RERERFERERAERAG (AR
ADAE—HRREREEMKINER
DA EBRNDEEREEXSMBERA
AIGEM LT - R EEm It R x 2
2 2 1 2 9 Bl & Cricket Square Hutchins
Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman,
KY1-1111, Cayman Islands & % 7 1 % &7
BREETREEROIBEEE o

ARARR—HREERRAR - ARFA K
HEHMBAR (MBI AEE)T2NER
HEEWREREBIRZERRYE - £
MEBARMIEXBHNGAEMBHRE
Bt 5E26 -

EERA ARAIMEBERGZERER
A 7] A& New Energy Business Cluster
Company Limited (— [E /A 2% /8 4 @ = Bf
Sk sz 2BRAF) -

mAERE
ZEGAVBHERIDBREEZTLEFMA
e((HEEFMAG)BMENET BB

SEAN(EEVMHERESEADRE
HhBEMAERNEBM B REER
FEGFEYNTEEGTEL D N K ##
BREAARERA - ZEHAMB
BRETABAMEXZAMARAFGEM
&7 LW AR R A E R B E S E (GEM £
AR B ) PA R & B 2 ) {6 B B0 8 R B BR
HE °

BREEAN FESBRIBHNEER
BOOE TR -

BE_T-_=F=RA=+—BItHEE"
RE B E A E 1B 494,644,0008 7T 0 TR
TE-=ZF=ZA=+—8 AEEHNR
BB FEHELA733,0008 T °

2022/2023% %% HPEIRERBIHEREEARAD A 63



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e P BmRME

Year ended 31 March 2023 # % —F -~ =%#=H=1—HIFF/ZE

2.

64

BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

Based on the net current liability position of the Group, the
Group might have financial uncertainties which may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern. The directors have given careful consideration to
the Group’s financial performance, working capital, liquidity
position and the stability of the Group’s business, operations
and relationships with its subcontractors, bankers and
financial institutions. The directors have also prepared cash
flow forecast of the Group for a period of next 12 months
ending on 31 March 2024 and assessed whether any shortfall
of funds in meeting the Group’s liquidity requirements, and
accordingly obtained interest-bearing borrowing facilities from
a financial institution to an extend of HK$10,000,000 to mest
the potential shortfall. The Group has also been taking various
cost control measures to tighten the costs of operations and
implementing various strategies to enhance the revenue.
In view of the above, the directors of the Company have
a reasonable expectation that the Group has adequate
financial resources to continue in operational existence for the
foreseeable future.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a) Basis of measurement

The measurement basis used in the preparation of these
consolidated financial statements is historical cost,
except for equity investment at fair value through other
comprehensive income which have been measured at
fair value.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the
financial statements of the Company and all of its
subsidiaries. The financial statements of the subsidiaries
are prepared for the same reporting year as that of the
Company using consistent accounting policies.

(b)

All intra-group balances, transactions, income and
expenses and profits and losses resulting from intra-
group transactions are eliminated in full. The results of
subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which the
Group obtains control and continue to be consolidated
until the date that such control ceases.

(a)

fm B B ()
ERAEBMNFRBEERR £A&H
BRI EAEEERNETRE LAl 4E
HAEBBESEZRENERERRE -
EEDEEERAEENMBRE - &
BEES RBESMRN AEEEBKH
EEMNBEUHUARAEERE S BRE -
FERBITRCHEEOBR - ESZTHE
EEAEERE_T-_WE=A=+—
BIERR+-EARBENER S RETEAR
YTFEELREOTREUMEARAEEN R
BESHENR WA — S ER
15 % %10,000,0008 L Z s B fE R @ &
NEBEERD - AEET—ERDE
BRAIESIEEEREENN  WEER
WMITZBRER AL I S - R £ AT
i ARREEAEEHAEEAEER
MPERENERRAREELE -

ETREHBE

FTEEX
REZEEEMEBRERETAE
LHEANE B BEE  HERAF

BEFfENEAFEFAEMLEZE
Was 2 RIER BRI o

(b) REEE
AEAMBREBELADARK
MAMBRARNMBRE - HED
A BB R DR B R AR A M
BRER—BWG T EHRA AR
EFEERY -

SEXBERARRSGELENAASE
EASBSRRZENER X5
WARRASAR BB -
MERARMNFZEEAEEESE
HEzZEREGEE BEEXREES
BZARIE-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e PR RME

Year ended 31 March 2023 #% — & —=

3.

= F=H=1—HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(c)

(d)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.
The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment
comprises its purchase price and any directly
attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working
condition and location for its intended use. Repairs and
maintenance are charged to profit or loss during the
year in which they are incurred.

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost less
accumulated impairment losses of property, plant
and equipment over their estimated useful lives from
the date on which they are available for use and after
taking into account their estimated residual values,
using the straight-line method, at the following rates per
annum. Where parts of an item of property, plant and
equipment have different useful lives, the cost of the
item is allocated on a reasonable basis and depreciated
separately:

Furniture and fixtures 20%

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity that is controlled by the Group.
The Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or has
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the
entity and has the ability to affect those returns through
its power over the entity. The Group reassesses whether
it controls an investee if facts and circumstances
indicate that there are changes to one or more of the
elements of control.

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
which is presented within these notes, an interest in a
subsidiary is stated at cost less impairment loss. The
carrying amount of the interest in a subsidiary is reduced
to its recoverable amount on an individual basis, if it
is higher than the recoverable amount. The results of
subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on the
basis of dividends received and receivable.

2022/20235 % B RERMR A AE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e P BmRME

Year ended 31 March 2023 # % —F -~ =%#=H=1—HIFF/ZE

3.

66

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(e) Financial instruments

Financial assets
Recognition and derecognition

Financial assets are recognised when and only when the
Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of
the instruments and on a trade date basis.

A financial asset is derecognised when and only when
(i) the Group’s contractual rights to future cash flows
from the financial asset expire or (i) the Group transfers
the financial asset and either (a) it transfers substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial
asset, or (b) it neither transfers nor retains substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial
asset but it does not retain control of the financial asset.

Classification and measurement

Financial assets (except for trade receivables and
contract assets) are initially recognised at their fair value
plus, in the case of financial assets not carried at fair
value through profit and loss (“FVPL’), transaction costs
that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the
financial assets. Such trade receivables and contract
assets are initially measured at their transaction price.

On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as
(i) measured at amortised cost; (ii) debt investment
measured at fair value through other comprehensive
income; (iii) equity investment measured at fair value
through other comprehensive income; or (iv) measured
at FVPL.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the Group’s business model for managing
the financial assets and the financial asset’s contractual
cash flow characteristics. Financial assets are not
reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition unless
the Group changes its business model for managing
them, in which case all affected financial assets are
reclassified on the first day of the first annual reporting
period following the change in the business model.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e IS ERAR MR

Year ended 31 March 2023 # % —ZE -~ =#=H=1—HIFF/&E

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
(e) Financial instruments (Continued)

3. FEEFNHR®@

(e) £MI A @)

Financial assets (Continued)
Financial assets measured at amortised cost

A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if
it meets both of the following conditions and is not
designated as at FVPL:

(i) it is held within a business model whose objective
is to hold financial assets in order to collect
contractual cash flows; and

(i) its contractual terms give rise on specified dates
to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently
measured using the effective interest method and are
subject to impairment. Gains and losses arising from
impairment, derecognition or through the amortisation
process are recognised in profit or loss.

The Group’s financial assets at amortised cost include
trade and other receivables, loan receivables and bank
balances and cash.

Equity investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income

On initial recognition, the Group can make an
irrevocable election (on an instrument-by-instrument
basis) to designate investments in equity instruments
that are not held for trading as at fair value through
other comprehensive income.

Equity investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income are subsequently measured at
fair value with gains and losses arising from changes in
fair values recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in the fair value reserve (non-recycling).
On derecognition of an investment, the cumulative
gains or losses previously accumulated in the fair value
reserve (non-recycling) are not reclassified to profit or
loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e P BmRME

Year ended 31 March 2023 B2 —F - =#F=H=+—HI-FE

3.

68

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. XEEERERW@

(Continued)

(e) Financial instruments (Continued) (e) €I A )
Equity investments at fair value through other BAFEFAEMZEKREZNR
comprehensive income (Continued) ERE(E)

Dividends on these investments are recognised in
profit or loss, unless the dividends clearly represent a
recovery of part of the cost of the investment.

Financial liabilities
Recognition and derecognition
Financial liabilities are recognised when and only when

the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions
of the instruments.

A financial liability is derecognised when and only when
the liability is extinguished, that is, when the obligation
specified in the relevant contract is discharged,
cancelled or expires.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e IS ERAR MR

Year ended 31 March 2023 # % —ZE -~ =#=H=1—HIFF/&E

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
(e) Financial instruments (Continued)

3. FEEFNHR®@

(e) £MI A @)

Financial liabilities (Continued)
Classification and measurement

Financial liabilities are initially recognised at their fair
value plus, in the case of financial liabilities not carried
at FVPL, transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the issue of the financial liabilities.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and
other payables, other borrowings, term loan and bond
payable. All financial liabilities are recognised initially at
their fair value and subsequently measured at amortised
cost, using the effective interest method, unless the
effect of discounting would be insignificant, in which
case they are stated at cost.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected
credit losses (“ECL”) on financial assets that are
measured at amortised cost. Except for the specific
treatments as detailed below, at each reporting date, the
Group measures a loss allowance for a financial asset
at an amount equal to the lifetime ECL if the credit risk
on that financial asset has increased significantly since
initial recognition. If the credit risk on a financial asset
has not increased significantly since initial recognition,
the Group measures the loss allowance for that financial
asset at an amount equal to 12-month ECL.

Other financial assets measured at fair value are not
subjected to ECL assessment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e P BmRME

Year ended 31 March 2023 B2 —F - =#F=H=+—HI-FE

3.

70

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(e) Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Measurement of ECL

ECL is a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses
(i.e. the present value of all cash shortfalls) over the
expected life of the financial instrument.

For financial assets, a credit loss is the present value of
the difference between the contractual cash flows that
are due to an entity under the contract and the cash
flows that the entity expects to receive.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life of a
financial instrument while 12-month ECL represents the
portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to result from
default events on a financial instrument that are possible
within 12 months after the reporting date.

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis, the
financial instruments are grouped together based on the
past due information.

Loss allowance is remeasured at each reporting date to
reflect changes in the financial instrument’s credit risk
and loss since initial recognition. The resulting changes
in the loss allowance are recognised as an impairment
gain or loss in profit or loss with a corresponding
adjustment to the carrying amount of the financial
instrument.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e IS ERAR MR

Year ended 31 March 2023 # % —ZE -~ =#=H=1—HIFF/&E

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
(e) Financial instruments (Continued)

3. FEEFNHR®@

(e) £MI A @)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an
event of default for internal credit risk management
purposes as historical experience indicates that the
Group may not receive the outstanding contractual
amounts in full if the financial asset that meets any of
the following criteria.

(i) information developed internally or obtained from
external sources indicates that the debtor is
unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Group,
in full (without taking into account any collaterals
held by the Group); or

(i)  there is a breach of financial covenants by the
counterparty.

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group considers
that default has occurred when a financial asset is more
than 90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable
and supportable information to demonstrate that a more
lagging default criterion is more appropriate.

Assessment of significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial
instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting
date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition. In making
this assessment, the Group considers both quantitative
and qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available without
undue cost or effort.
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3.

72

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(e) Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Assessment of significant increase in credit risk
(Continued)

In particular, the following information is taken into
account in the assessment:

° the debtor’s failure to make payments of principal
or interest on the due dates;

° an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the financial instrument’s external or internal credit
rating (if available);

° an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the operating results of the debtor; and

o actual or expected changes in the technological,
market, economic or legal environment that have
or may have a significant adverse effect on the
debtor’s ability to meet its obligation to the Group.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk on a financial
instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition when contractual payments are more than
30 days past due.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Group assumes
that the credit risk on a financial instrument has not
increased significantly since initial recognition if the
financial instrument is determined to have low credit risk
at the reporting date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e PR RME

Year ended 31 March 2023 # % —ZE -~ =#=H=1—HIFF/&E

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. TESHBE®@m
(Continued)

(e) Financial instruments (Continued)

(e) £MI A @)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued) cRMEEMEE
Low credit risk BEERE

A financial instrument is determined to have low credit
risk if:

(i) it has a low risk of default;

(i)  the borrower has a strong capacity to meet its
contractual cash flow obligations in the near term;
and

(i) adverse changes in economic and business
conditions in the longer term may, but will not
necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to
fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations.

The financial instruments are determined to have low
credit risks are set out in note 23 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Simplified approach of ECL

For trade receivables, the Group applies a simplified
approach in calculating ECL. The Group recognises a
loss allowance based on lifetime ECL at each reporting
date and has established a provision matrix that is
based on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted
for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and
the economic environment.

Credit-impaired financial asset

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred.
Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired include
observable data about the following events:

(@)  significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower.
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3.

74

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(e) Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Credit-impaired financial asset (Continued)

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event.

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower
a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not
otherwise consider.

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will
enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.

(e) the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.

(f) the purchase or origination of a financial asset at
a deep discount that reflects the incurred credit
losses.

Write-off

The Group writes off a financial asset when the Group
has no reasonable expectations of recovering the
contractual cash flows on a financial asset in its entirety
or a portion thereof. The Group has a policy of writing
off the gross carrying amount when the financial asset
is 2 years past due based on historical experience
of recoveries of similar assets. The Group expects
no significant recovery from the amount written off.
However, financial assets that are written off could still
be subject to enforcement activities under the Group’s
procedures for recovery of amounts due, taking into
account legal advice if appropriate. Any subsequent
recovery is recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e PR RME

Year ended 31 March 2023 # % —ZE -~ =#=H=1—HIFF/&E

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(f)

(9)

Impairment of non-financial assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews
internal and external sources of information to assess
whether there is any indication that its property, plant
and equipment, right-of-use assets and interests
in associates may be impaired or impairment loss
previously recognised no longer exists or may be
reduced. If any such indication exists, the recoverable
amount of the asset is estimated, based on the higher
of its fair value less costs of disposal and value in use.
Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable
amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the
recoverable amount of the smallest group of assets
that generates cash flows independently (i.e. a cash-
generating unit).

If the recoverable amount of an asset or a cash-
generating unit is estimated to be less than its carrying
amount, the carrying amount of the asset or cash-
generating unit is reduced to its recoverable amount.
Impairment losses are recognised as an expense in
profit or loss immediately.

A reversal of impairment losses is limited to the carrying
amount of the asset or cash-generating unit that would
have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised in prior years. Reversal of impairment losses
is recognised as income in profit or loss immediately.

Revenue recognition
Rental income

Rental income under operating leases is recognised
when the assets are let out and on the straight-line
basis over the lease term.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. TESHBE®@

(Continued)

(9) Revenue recognition (Continued) (9) Wz (@)

Revenue from contracts with customers within
HKFRS 15

Nature of goods or services

The nature of the goods or services provided by the
Group is provision of comprehensive architectural and
structural engineering consultancy services.

Identification of performance obligations

At contract inception, the Group assesses the goods
or services promised in a contract with a customer and
identifies as a performance obligation each promise to
transfer to the customer either:

(@ a good or service (or a bundle of goods or
services) that is distinct; or

(b) a series of distinct goods or services that are
substantially the same and that have the same
pattern of transfer to the customer.

A good or service that is promised to a customer is
distinct if both of the following criteria are met:

(@)  the customer can benefit from the good or service
either on its own or together with other resources
that are readily available to the customer (i.e. the
good or service is capable of being distinct); and

(b) the Group’s promise to transfer the good or
service to the customer is separately identifiable
from other promises in the contract (i.e. the
promise to transfer the good or service is distinct
within the context of the contract).

76 China Come Ride New Energy Group Limited Annual Report 2022/2023

ERMBBEEAFISREER
REFEFENH B
BEYHRBEHMHE

AEBREREEMHRBOMLEE
ARRHEEZERAEBIERM
AR

BRI E AR # 5

RENFEE  AEEFGHESR
FRETTEHRRENE MR
THHEER-—BERNEERT
P g A TME M — IR A G

@ BAREREEYHREE
—HEWHRE) K

() —RINARBHERAERER
PHEXBROARERE
MERT ©

WAL TE2HMEL - EKELET
BEPHE YR B AR5 &
B R -

@ HEFPEEBEFPEEXNER
EPMEMAEERREY
2 AR 7 o & &= (BD & 9 3k R
BResm AR ) K&

) AEBRAEFEZEREWHR
B AHERERES N T HE
ftb 7 5m = Bl (B0 8 3% B W) 3k
MR M) A TR A K BB A e
BAREER Rl) °



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e IS ERAR MR

Year ended 31 March 2023 # % —ZE -~ =#=H=1—HIFF/&E

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
(g) Revenue recognition (Continued)

3. FEEFNHR®@
(9) Yoz FERR ()

Revenue from contracts with customers within
HKFRS 15 (Continued)

Timing of revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when (or as) the Group satisfies
a performance obligation by transferring a promised
good or service (i.e. an asset) to a customer. An asset is
transferred when (or as) the customer obtains control of
that asset.

The Group transfers control of a good or service over
time and, therefore, satisfies a performance obligation
and recognises revenue over time, if one of the following
criteria is met:

(@ the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s
performance as the Group performs;

(b) the Group’s performance creates or enhances
an asset (for example, work in progress) that
the customer controls as the asset is created or
enhanced; or

(c) the Group’s performance does not create an
asset with an alternative use to the Group and the
Group has an enforceable right to payment for
performance completed to date.

If a performance obligation is not satisfied over time, the
Group satisfies the performance obligation at a point in
time when the customer obtains control of the promised
asset. In determining when the transfer of control
occurs, the Group considers the concept of control and
such indicators as legal title, physical possession, right
to payment, significant risks and rewards of ownership
of the asset, and customer acceptance.

Service income from provision of comprehensive
architectural and structural engineering consultancy
services is recognised over time when the customer
simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits
provided by the Group’s performance as the Group
performs, or when the Group’s performance creates or
enhances an asset that the customer controls as the
asset is created or enhanced.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e SRR MR

Year ended 31 March 2023 # % —F -~ =%#=H=1—HIFF/ZE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
(g) Revenue recognition (Continued)

78

Revenue from contracts with customers within
HKFRS 15 (Continued)

Timing of revenue recognition (Continued)

For revenue recognised over time under HKFRS 15,
provided the outcome of the performance obligation
can be reasonably measured, the Group applies the
input method (i.e. based on the proportion of the actual
inputs deployed to date as compared to the estimated
total inputs) to measure the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the performance obligation because
there is a direct relationship between the Group’s inputs
and the transfer of control of goods or services to the
customers and reliable information is available to the
Group to apply the method. Otherwise, revenue is
recognised only to the extent of the costs incurred until
such time that it can reasonably measure the outcome
of the performance obligation. The principal input
applied in input methods is labour hours and/or third
party and related party costs incurred.

Variable consideration

If the consideration promised in a contract includes a
variable amount, the Group estimates the amount of
consideration to which it will be entitled in exchange
for transferring the promised goods or services to a
customer. The variable consideration is estimated by
using either the expected-value or the most-likely-
amount method whichever is better to predict the
entitled amount. The estimated variable consideration is
then included in the transaction price only to the extent
that it is highly probable that a significant reversal in
the amount of cumulative revenue recognised of the
contract will not occur when the uncertainty associated
with the variable consideration is subsequently resolved.

Interest income

Interest income from financial assets is recognised
using the effective interest method. For financial
assets measured at amortised cost that are not credit-
impaired, the effective interest rate is applied to the
gross carrying amount of the assets while it is applied
to the amortised cost (i.e. the gross carrying amount net
of loss allowance) in case of credit-impaired financial
assets.
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(9)

China Come Ride New Energy Group Limited Annual Report 2022/2023

W 25 R ()
ERMBBEEAFISREER
REEFENN KR (R

W 25 7B B9 T (AR

AR B F B B S WS £ R 165
BEREEZRIANKRMNS N
BHOEBENEREAEFE K
SEAERBAEAZLSNE
SRR A B BT IR AR L B LA BT
EXTHBEHNEENEE REAR
AEBHNKRAEBEZEYRRE
WEHETFTEFPZEBEEERBRE
RERNSEERBAEBRAZA
Eo BR EUAMEEXRETRR
BRAK BEEEAREFEE
MEEHER -BAZTFERDN
FTERARLORHBR HELE
WE=TTRBEITRAR -

TERE
WREHP AR RERRE
TR OAEEMGHESBEREAR
BEPBEMAGREY IR BRI
ZRESE AEREEBESR
BEX RIS EARERA
ERESHSHEERE)MH - A
AR ERERFARSERS
ERREEAFARBRERAE
REEBzZTIREEERERSE
AREEHRANIERRTEK
a1 7% [0 O A] BE ME AR DN o

F 2 A
DREENBRALEBRA XX
MR- MBI A EMEE
ERENEREEMS  BEF
FRAREENREAE W8
EEERENEZREENEAR
% 35 A AS (BN AR T 48 ME0R0 2 /85 18 &
&) °



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e PR RME

Year ended 31 March 2023 # % —ZE -~ =#=H=1—HIFF/&E

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(h) Contract assets and contract liabilities

If the Group performs by transferring goods or services
to a customer before the customer pays consideration
or before payment is due, the contract is presented as
a contract asset, excluding any amounts presented as a
receivable. Conversely, if a customer pays consideration,
or the Group has a right to an amount of consideration
that is unconditional, before the Group transfers a good
or service to the customer, the contract is presented as
advance payments from customers when the payment
is made or the payment is due (whichever is earlier). A
receivable is the Group’s right to consideration that is
unconditional or only the passage of time is required
before payment of that consideration is due.

For a single contract or a single set of related contracts,
either a net contract asset or a net advance payment
from customers is presented. Contract assets and
contract liabilities of unrelated contracts are not
presented on a net basis.

It is common for the Group to receive from the customer
the whole or some of the contractual payments
before the goods are delivered (i.e. the timing of
revenue recognition for such transactions). The Group
recognises a contract liability until it is recognised as
revenue. During that period, any significant financing
components, if applicable, will be included in the
contract liability and will be expensed as accrued unless
the interest expense is eligible for capitalisation.

On the other hand, in accordance with the standard
payment schedules of the Group, payments are
normally not due or received from the customer until
the services are completed or when the goods are
delivered. However, for such transactions, revenue is
recognised over time and therefore, a contract asset is
recognised until it becomes a receivable or payments
are received. During that period, any significant
financing components, if applicable, will be included in
the contract asset and recognised as interest income.
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3.

80

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(i)

)]

(k)

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash equivalents represent short-term highly
liquid investments which are readily convertible into
known amounts of cash and which are subject to an
insignificant risk of change in value.

Foreign currency translation

ltems included in the consolidated financial statements
are measured using the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the entity operates
(the “functional currency”). The Company’s functional
currency is Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”).

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the
functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing
at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange
gains and losses resulting from the settlement of
such transactions and from the translation at year-
end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in
profit or loss.

Lease

The Group assesses whether a contract is, or contains,
a lease at inception of the contract. A contract is, or
contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to
control the use of an identified asset for a period of time
in exchange for consideration.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e IS ERAR MR

Year ended 31 March 2023 # % —ZE -~ =#=H=1—HIFF/&E

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
(k) Lease (Continued)

3. FEEFNHR®@

(k) BE&E@

As lessee

The Group applies the recognition exemption to short-
term leases and low-value asset leases. Lease payments
associated with these leases are recognised as an
expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

The Group accounts for each lease component within
a lease contract as a lease separately. The Group
allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price
of the lease component.

Amounts payable by the Group that do not give rise to
a separate component are considered to be part of the
total consideration that is allocated to the separately
identified components of the contract.

The Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease
liability at the commencement date of the lease.

The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost,
which comprises

(@)  the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability;

(o) any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives
received;

(¢) any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

(d) an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group
in dismantling and removing the underlying asset,
restoring the site on which it is located or restoring
the underlying asset to the condition required
by the terms and conditions of the lease, unless
those costs are incurred to produce inventories.
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3.

82

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(k) Lease (Continued)

As lessee (Continued)

Subsequently, the right-of-use asset is measured
at cost less any accumulated depreciation and any
accumulated impairment losses and adjusted for any
remeasurement of the lease liability. Depreciation is
provided on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the
lease term and the estimated useful lives of the right-of-
use asset (unless the lease transfers ownership of the
underlying asset to the Group by the end of the lease
term or if the cost of the right-of-use asset reflects that
the Group will exercise a purchase option — in which
case depreciation is provided over the estimated useful
life of the underlying asset) as follows:

Office premises 2 years
The lease liability is initially measured at the present
value of the lease payments that are not paid at the
commencement date of the contract.

The lease payments included in the measurement of the
lease liability comprise the following payments for the
right to use the underlying asset during the lease term
that are not paid at the commencement date:

(@) fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments), less any lease incentives receivable;

(b)  variable lease payments that depend on an index
or a rate;

() amounts expected to be payable under residual
value guarantees;

(d)  exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is
reasonably certain to exercise that option; and

(e) payments of penalties for terminating the lease,
if the lease term reflects the Group exercising an
option to terminate the lease.

3.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e IS ERAR MR

Year ended 31 March 2023 # % —ZE -~ =#=H=1—HIFF/&E

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
(k) Lease (Continued)
As lessee (Continued)

The lease payments are discounted using the interest
rate implicit in the lease, or where it is not readily
determinable, the incremental borrowing rate of the

lessee.

Subsequently, the lease liability is measured by
increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest on the
lease liability and by reducing the carrying amount to

reflect the lease payments made.

The lease liability is remeasured using a revised
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discount rate when there are changes to the lease REPAEFAEAEEREDTE

payments arising from a change in the lease term or the
reassessment of whether the Group will be reasonably

certain to exercise a purchase option.

The Group recognises the amount of the remeasurement
of the lease liability as an adjustment to the right-of-use
asset. If the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset is
reduced to zero and there is a further reduction in the
measurement of the lease liability, the Group recognises
any remaining amount of the remeasurement in profit or

loss.

A lease modification is accounted for as a separate

lease if:

(@)  the modification increases the scope of the lease (@)
by adding the right to use one or more underlying
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(b) the consideration for the lease increases by an by HEREEMNSI|MEENKE

amount commensurate with the stand-alone price
for the increase in scope and any appropriate
adjustments to that stand-alone price to reflect the

circumstances of the particular contract.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
(k) Lease (Continued)

84

As lessee (Continued)

When a lease modification is not accounted for as
a separate lease, at the effective date of the lease
modification,

(@ the Group allocates the consideration in the
modified contract on the basis of relative stand-
alone price as described above.

(b) the Group determines the lease term of the
modified contract.

(c) the Group remeasures the lease liability by
discounting the revised lease payments using a
revised discount rate over the revised lease term.

(d) for lease modifications that decrease the
scope of the lease, the Group accounts for the
remeasurement of the lease liability by decreasing
the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset to
reflect the partial or full termination of the lease
and recognising any gain or loss relating to the
partial or full termination of the lease in profit or
loss.

(e) for all other lease modifications, the Group
accounts for the remeasurement of the lease
liability by making a corresponding adjustment to
the right-of-use asset.

As lessor

The Group classifies each of its leases as either a
finance lease or an operating lease at the inception date
of the lease. A lease is classified as a finance lease
if it transfers substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of the underlying asset. All other
leases are classified as operating leases.

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, it accounts
for the head lease and sublease as two separate
contracts. The sublease is classified as an operating
lease if the head lease is a short-term lease to which
the Group has applied the recognition exemption.
Otherwise, the sublease is classified as a finance or
operating lease by reference to the right-of-use asset
arising from the head lease.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(k)

U]

(m)

Lease (Continued)
As lessor — operating lease

The Group applies the derecognition and impairment
requirements in HKFRS 9 to the operating lease
receivables.

A modification to an operating lease is accounted for as
a new lease from the effective date of the modification,
considering any prepaid or accrued lease payments
relating to the original lease as part of the lease
payments for the new lease.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a
present legal or constructive obligation as a result of
past events, when it is probable that an outflow of
resources embodying economic benefits will be required
to settle the obligation, and when a reliable estimate of
the amount of obligation can be made. Expenditures
for which a provision has been recognised are charged
against the related provision in the year in which the
expenditures are incurred. Provisions are reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and adjusted to reflect the
current best estimate. Where the effect of the time value
of money is material, the amount provided is the present
value of the expenditures expected to be required
to settle the obligation. Where the Group expects
a provision to be reimbursed, the reimbursement is
recognised as a separate asset but only when the
reimbursement is virtually certain.

Employee benefits
Short term employee benefits

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave and the
cost of non-monetary benefits are accrued in the
year in which the associated services are rendered by
employees.

Defined contribution plans

The obligations for contributions to defined contribution
retirement scheme are recognised as an expense in
profit or loss as incurred. The assets of the scheme
are held separately from those of the Group in an
independently administered fund.
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3.

86

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(n)

(o)

Taxation

The charge for current income tax is based on the
results for the year as adjusted for items that are non-
assessable or disallowed. It is calculated using tax rates
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on
all temporary differences at the end of the reporting
period between the tax bases of assets and liabilities
and their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial
statements. However, any deferred tax arising from
initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction
other than a business combination that at the time of
the transaction affects neither the accounting profit nor
taxable profit or loss is not recognised.

The deferred tax liabilities and assets are measured
at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the year
when the asset is recovered or the liability is settled,
based on tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted
or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting
period.

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that
it is probable that future taxable profit will be available
against which the deductible temporary differences, tax
losses and credits can be utilised.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs incurred, net of any investment
income on the temporary investment of the specific
borrowings, that are directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of qualifying
assets, i.e. assets that necessarily take a substantial
period of time to get ready for their intended use or
sale, are capitalised as part of the cost of those assets.
Capitalisation of such borrowing costs ceases when
the assets are substantially ready for their intended use
or sale. All other borrowing costs are recognised as an
expense in the period in which they are incurred.
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4. CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs

(a) Application of new and revised HKFRSs

The Group has applied the following amendments to
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA for the first time, which
are mandatorily effective for the annual period beginning
on or after 1 April 2022 for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements:

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual
Framework

Amendments to HKAS 16 Property, Plant and
Equipment: Proceeds
before Intended Use

Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous Contracts — Cost
of Fulfilling a Contract

Amendments to Merger Accounting for
Accounting Guideline 5 Common Control
(Revised) Combinations

Annual Improvements to ~ Amendments to HKFRS 1,
HKFRSs 2018-2020 HKFRS 9, HKFRS 16 and

HKAS 41

Amendments to Merger accounting for

Accounting Guideline 5 Common Control
Combinations
Amendments to HKAS 12 International Tax Reform —
Pillar Two Model Rules*®

Entities are required to apply the temporary exception
to account for deferred taxes related to Pillar Two
income taxes immediately upon the issuance of the
Amendments, and to provide the new disclosures as
set out in the Amendments for annual reporting periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2023.

The application of the Amendments to HKFRSs in the
current year had no material impact on the Group’s
financial positions and performance for the current
and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out these
consolidated financial statements.

BETEREH
RAHERIETBRMB®RE

2R

(a)

ERFIREBITIEBHKERE
%8|
REERGREEMBHREKD
BERERULNTHEBSFMAE
o WR—ZEBE-—_FMWA—B%H
2 1% B A B B 08 ) A Ry
BERMBHREEAMIBETA

BREMBREERN HHASERNRL

ERVACHEY)

BB gL nE BERRE:

EAACCHES) fERERZAN
53 E

BB gt e BEEAH - BT

FITH (BT X) BHHKA

ERECEIELY HFZH A 58

(BEMBIX)  AHEHE

BREMBREERN FEMBRIEN

“T-N\FE 1% FERK
—E-EEy HEEREI5 -
FERHE ERUBHREE

AIE165 k& B
SR F415R

(&%)
ERECEIELY HFZBITA 58
(BET %) i
BREHENF2SE BERBHRE -
(BFT %K) FoXHBAH
Al

* BRI AN E Mg SHEBXUALE
FEFRER B Bl OMBE R R B B 58
T AT B AR B AR FE B K
YRBETANRE R _F
= ARz EMRABNEF
EHREMBEHFHE -

RAFERRAE MG &R EER
METAHAEERANFEE B
EFENTBERRRERE R, &
RERAMBERRABBEES
HUYEBEATE -

2022/2023% %% HPEIRERBIHEREEARAD A 87



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e P BmRME

Year ended 31 March 2023 # % —F -~ =%#=H=1—HIFF/ZE

4.

88

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. B BEXSF @)

(Continued)

Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs (Continued) RN RIETEBRBRE

ZE Bl (1)

(b) New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet (b) EEMEMKERNHTREHS
effective AERBMERSEL
The Group has not applied any new and revised AEBIWAREREMEBMESN
HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective RARERZZE-__FNA—HRKBH
for the financial year beginning 1 April 2022. These new MHEEESNFTTREBTR
and revised HKFRSs include the following which may be B BmEER c ZEHAT LK
relevant to the Group. BAEBVBREENBEUT

AREEASEEEANAR -

Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on or after

RUTHERZ#%

FROEHHBEXR

Amendments to HKAS 1 — Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current 1 January 2024
BEAGHEANFIRUEBITRN) — BEESEARARDXIERD —ZE_WHFE-—HA—H
Amendments to HKAS 1 — Non-current Liabilities with Covenants 1 January 2024
ERGFHEAUFIRUERTN) — MERBERNFERBEE —E-mME—A—H
Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice Statement 2 — Disclosure of 1 January 2023

Accounting Policies
EREGHENFIRRESMBRESENERREF2R BTN — SstBEEE —T_=F—H—H

Amendments to HKAS 8 — Definition of Accounting Estimates 1 January 2023
EHEGHEAFESREFTAR) — Gt bt 2 EE —EZ=%—HF—H
Amendments to HKAS 12 — Deferred Tax Related to Assets and Liabilities 1 January 2023

Arising from a Single Transaction
EREGHEAERFEBITAR) - RE—XGEENEERBBEHBNELHRE —Z-=F—-H—H

Amendments to HKFRS 16 — Lease Liability in a Sales and Leaseback 1 January 2024
BEXEMBREERFEIGHRUSEIA) — ERERCHESRE —E-_MNF—H—H
Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 — Sale or Contribution of Assets To be determined

between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture
ERVBRELENFI10R LB A LR B8R (BFTAR) - REEHABRLE R
AREEECENEELESFE
Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (Revised) Presentation of Financial Statements — 1 January 2024
Classification by the Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains a Repayment on
Demand Clause
ERREESR(KENDVBRENEY — ERXRAUBEREREERRINE —ZE-_HNF—H—H
HEFNS A

N

FE

Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7 — Supplier Finance Arrangements 1 January 2024
BERGHEANETREREBVBMEENET RSN — HETRELH —E-_mMF—HA—H
Amendments to HKAS 21 — Lack of Exchangeability 1 January 2025
BERGEAFE2ARUEETA) — = X —E-RF—HF—H
The Group is in the process of making an assessment AEEBEEFHLEEFBEIT AR
of what the impact of these amendments and new ZRIEFHREAPENTEEREZ -
standards is expected to be in the period of initial 2SRt EEmBARMLTE
application. So far it has concluded that the adoption BN KA E iR & S MR E K
of them is unlikely to have a significant impact on the BERTE -

consolidated financial statements.
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5.

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

Estimates and assumptions concerning the future and
judgements are made by the management in the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements. They affect the
application of the Group’s accounting policies, reported
amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses, and
disclosures made. They are assessed on an on-going
basis and are based on experience and relevant factors,
including expectations of future events that are believed to
be reasonable under the circumstances. Where appropriate,
revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period
of revision and future periods, in case the revision also affects
future periods.

Critical judgements in applying accounting

policies

In the process of applying the accounting policies, the
directors have made the following judgements that have the
most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the
consolidated financial statements (apart from those involving
estimations, which are dealt with below).

(@) Going concern basis

These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on a going concern basis, the validity of which
depends upon the successful outcome and measure
implemented, at a level sufficient to finance the working
capital requirements of the Group. Details are explained
in note 2 to the consolidated financial statements.

(b) Significant increase in credit risk

As explained in note 3(e), ECL are measured as an
allowance equal to 12-month ECL for stage 1 assets,
or lifetime ECL for stage 2 or stage 3 assets. An asset
moves to stage 2 when its credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition. HKFRS 9 does not
define what constitutes a significant increase in credit
risk. In assessing whether the credit risk of an asset
has significantly increased the Group takes into account
qualitative and quantitative reasonable and supportable
forward looking information.
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5.

90

= F=H=1—HILFE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

Impairment losses on trade receivables and contract
assets

The Group’s management estimates the impairment losses for
trade receivables and contract assets measured at amortised
cost by using various inputs and assumptions including risk of
a default and expected loss rate. The estimation involves high
degree of uncertainty which is based on the Group’s historical
information, existing market conditions as well as forward-
looking estimates at the end of each reporting period. Where
the expectation is different from the original estimate, such
difference will impact the carrying amount of such financial
assets measured at amortised cost. Details of the key
assumption and inputs used in estimating ECL are set out in
note 23 to the consolidated financial statements.

Revenue from contracts with customers within HKFRS
15

As explained in significant accounting policies, revenue
recognition on an uncompleted project is dependent on
estimating the total outcome of the contract, as well as the
work done to date. Based on the Group’s recent experience
and the nature of the activity undertaken by the Group, the
Group makes estimates of the point at which it considers the
work is sufficiently advanced such that the costs to complete
and revenue can be reliably estimated. Actual outcomes in
terms of total cost or revenue may be higher or lower than
estimated at the end of the reporting period, which would
affect the revenue and profit recognised in future years as an
adjustment to the amounts recorded to date.

Fair value of the unlisted equity securities at FVTOCI

The fair value of unlisted equity securities that are not
traded in an active market is determined by using valuation
techniques. The Group use its judgement to select adjusted
NAV approach and makes assumptions that are mainly based
on market conditions existing at the end of each reporting
period. Details of the key assumptions used and the impact
of changes to these assumptions are disclosed in Note 15.
Changes in assumptions could affect the carrying amount of
the FVTOCI.

As at 31 March 2023, the carrying amount of the Group’s
unlisted equity securities at FVTOCI was approximately
HK$4,424,000 (2022: HK$4,424,000).
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6.

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 6. WEKkoyHER
(a) Revenue and business segment (@) WMEREKDS
2023 2022
—E'=-= — T
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAT
Revenue from contracts with ERM K R EEDE155
customers within the scope of HEANEFSHWE
HKFRS 15
Contract revenue from provision for REREZEHBERSEE
comprehensive architectural and T 72 B8 R AR 755 g A )
structural engineering consultancy RS LK R
services recognised over time 45,369 35,816

The Group’s operation is mainly derived from provision
for comprehensive architectural and structural
engineering consultancy services. For the purpose of
resources allocation and performance assessment,
the chief operating decision maker (i.e. the directors
of the Company) reviews the overall results and
financial position of the Group as a whole prepared in
accordance with accounting policies which conform to
HKFRSs. Accordingly, the Group has only one single
operating segment and no further analysis of this single
segment is presented.

Revenue expected to be recognised in the future
arising from contracts with customers in existence
at the reporting date

The Group has applied the practical expedient in
paragraph 121 of HKFRS 15 to its contracts such that
the Group does not disclose information about revenue
that the Group will be entitled to when it satisfies the
remaining performance obligations under the contracts
as all contract works have an original expected duration
of one year or less.
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6.

92

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

(b) Geographical information

All of the Group’s external revenue during the Year are
derived from services rendered in Hong Kong, the place

of domicile of the Group’s operating entities.

The geographical location of the non-current assets
is based on (i) the physical location of the asset in the
case of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use
assets; and (ii) the location of the operation to which
they are allocated in the case of equity investment at

FVTOCI.

Since both the Group’s the property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets and the operation of
the investee for which the investment was classified as
equity investment at FVTOCI are located in Hong Kong,
no geographical information is presented accordingly.

Information about major customers

Revenue from customers contributing individually over

10% or more of the Group’s revenue is as follows:

6.
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2023 2022
—_E2-= —ZF- -
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FAT
Customer A EFEA 22,843 =
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7.

OTHER INCOME 7. HkA

2023 2022
B =K —F-—
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAT
Rental income from subleases of FRAEEE BLHEmESE

right-of-use assets/rented premises HWES KA 291 294
Government grants BT #8 Ab 552 -
Bank interest income |ITH B M A 1 -
Sundry income IR A 80 58
924 352

The Group successfully applied for and fulfilled the condition
of government grants that relate to wage subsidy set up by
the Hong Kong SAR Government for the year ended 31 March
2023. Under the conditions of the wage subsidy, the Group
is required to retain its local employees even if business is
affected by the COVID-19 outbreak.

AREEBRBE-_E_=F=A=+—H
LEFEERDEBFEFAKEERE B
FERNAEIBEBEIEMEMBREE
Bh o IRIBTEMBMGY  BIEERZ

F|COVID-19ZF 5 ¥ &

HAMES o

CAEEDEFERE
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Year ended 31 March 2023 # % —F -~ =%#=H=1—HIFF/ZE

8.

94

(LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAX

This is stated after charging:

8.

BR B AI(ES 18), 5 R
i A4 B 15 51 R -

2023 2022
—E=-= —E-_F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Finance costs R =GN
Interest on term loan EHERF B - 384
Interest expenses on lease liabilities HEABZFERX 28 46
28 430
Staff costs BT KA
(including directors’ remuneration) (BEEEMS)
Salaries, wages and other benefits Fe ITEREMER 15,681 16,962
Contributions to defined contribution plans & %8 it 2 &t 2| &9 £t 7% 961 1,240
Total staff costs BT AKEE 16,642 18,202
Less: Amount included in cost of services ¥l : 5t A B 2 4 AR 76 BX 2K 89
rendered k| (12,435) (13,605)
Total staff costs included in administrative 5+ AT B B 2 89 & T A A
expenses 48 %8 4,207 4,597
Other items Hihg g
Auditor’s remuneration — audit services ZEEM & — TR
— Group’s auditor — REEZ A 550 580
— Statutory auditor for subsidiaries of the — — A& E KB QR A E %
Group 2 A 107 =
Depreciation of property, plant and ME - BMERZBEITE
equipment 78 187
Depreciation of right-of-use assets CTREEETE 691 641
Impairment losses on trade receivables B SR FIEREEE 664 —
Impairment losses on contract assets BREERBEEIE 21 =

The Group participates in the Mandatory Provident Fund
(“MPF”) Scheme under the Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance (Chapter 485 of the laws of Hong Kong)
for qualifying employees of the Group in Hong Kong. The
assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those
of the Group in funds under the control of independent
trustees. The Group contributes at the lower of HK$1,500
or 5% of relevant monthly payroll costs to the MPF Scheme,
which contribution is matched by employees. The Group’s
contributions to the MPF Scheme vest fully and immediately
with the employees. Accordingly, there were no forfeited
contributions available for the Group to reduce its existing
level of contributions to the MPF Scheme.

REBRIBEE B AP F485ZGEFIED
Bt alEoNAETEEENEER
EE2HEAFIMHATES ((RES]FE -
BIESHEMNEERBY AL T
WESHNEBRAEEEESHAFTE - A5
& 11,5007 7T 3k A8 B8 B #7 A AN #95% (LA
REEAE)HBBESTEHENR ME
BN AELRSHR AEEYARES
EMEFNEEZASETES - Al
7N 55 B 30 48 (T ] AT A A9 08 MR A 3R CAT PR R
HIBRMBE S8 KE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e PR RME

Year ended 31 March 2023 #% —ZE - = =H=+—HIFFZE

9. DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’'S 9. EERSAEEEMS
EMOLUMENTS

The aggregate amounts of emoluments paid or payable to the EfENARRESZMEARENT
Company’s directors are as follows:

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-E--E-A={-HLEE

Emoluments paid or payable in respect of a person’s services as a director,
whether of the Company or its subsidiary undertaking

ENSENEAESHBEAL (FRAALAIANBRAER) 2HE

Salaries, Contributions
allowances to defined
Directors’ and benefits Discretionary  contribution
fees in kind bonuses plan Total
e 2ER EEMTHH
ExHhe BENEF MR R @t
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$’000
TER TET TER TER TER
Executive directors: HiTES:
Chung Yuk Lun EEH 360 - - - 360
Cao Dayong @ EAEO 288 - - - 288
Zhou Renchao @ B e 583 - - - 583
Independent non-executive directors: BIFHTES:
Lai Pik Chi, Peggy REY 120 - - - 120
Chan Yuk Chun REY 56 - - - 56
Mabel Lee 2% 56 - - - 56
Lam Yuen Man, Maria 7 HEEn 60 - - - 60
Leung Tsun Ip 2k 0 60 - - - 60
Liu Jianting @ gl - - - - -
1,583 - - - 1,583

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BE_E__#-f=t+-ALEE

Emoluments paid or payable in respect of a person’s services as a director,
whether of the Company or its subsidiary undertaking

ENRENEEEZRBALPRARRAZEMNBARAES) M2

Salaries, Contributions
allowances and to defined
Directors’ benefits Discretionary contribution
fees in kind bonuses plan Total
¥¢ 2HR EREREE
Ezxhe EWRET BERa ol @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEL THL FEL TAR TAR
Executive directors: HiTES:
Chung Yuk Lun E5H 360 - - - 360
Cao Dayong © EXBO - - - - -
Poon Kai Kit, Joe © &R - 1,650 330 297 2,217
Independent non-executive directors: BIFHTES:
Lai Pik Chi, Peggy REZ 120 - - - 120
Chan Yuk Chun REY 120 - - - 120
Mabel Lee Z2me 47 - = = 47
Lee Pui Chung ® FihEe 47 - - - 47
694 1,650 330 297 2,971
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e SRR MR

Year ended 31 March 2023 # % —F -~ =%#=H=1—HIFF/ZE

9. DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

m Mr. Leung Tsun Ip was appointed as the independent non-
executive director of the Company on 1 October 2022.

@ Mr. Zhou Renchao was appointed as an executive director of
the Company on 1 September 2022.

@ Mr. Cao Dayong was appointed as an executive director of the
Company on 20 January 2022.

@ Ms. Mabel Lee was appointed as an independent non-executive
director of the Company on 10 November 2021.

® Mr. Poon Kai Kit, Joe resigned as an executive director of the
Company on 25 August 2021.

© Mr. Lee Pui Chung retired as an independent non-executive
director of the Company on 23 August 2021.

u Ms. Lam Yuen Man, Maria was appointed as an independent
non-executive director of the Company on 1 October 2022
and resigned as an independent non-executive director of the
Company on 10 January 2024.

® Mr. Liu Jianting was appointed as an independent non-exective
director of the Company on 28 February 2024.

No directors and five highest paid individuals have waived
emoluments in respect of the years ended 31 March 2023
and 2022.

No emoluments have been paid by the Group to the directors
and five highest paid individuals as an inducement to join or
upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office.

The five (2022: four) non-director individuals, having the
highest emoluments in the Group for the year, are as follows:

ESREAEEEMS @)

) PEEEEN_B__F+A—BESE
FARRRBIYLIERITES -

@ ACBLTER-ZTE-__FNLA—BE
ZEABRRRRTES -

® EARBAEN-_BE_—_F—-—F-_+HE
ZEBEARBRITES

@ FRPLEIR_FT_—F+—A+HE
RERLRRFRITES -

® ERGBEER-_ZE=_—F\A=1+HA
BERQBHRITES -

® FHRAEER_T_—F/\AZ+=8
BREARQABBIIENITES -

™ MBELTR-_BE-_—_F+A—RA#EHE
ZERBARRIBILIFATES - LK
ZENF—AtHBEARB B
MITEFWH -

® AEELAER-_T-_mME-_A=-+\H
BETABARABIBYIERTES -

HE_Z_Z6€RKR-_ZT-__%=ZA
T+ BLEFEE TEEBEERRAEES
A THEBREE -

AEERSEBAEZTRARRSFTMA
ITMAREEMNMESHEEETMAR
SERNELMEARESTRERMIESY

BB -

rEBFASSHFMOEIR(CE-_F:
ME)EEEALFBOT:

2023 2022

—E-= —ET -

HK$°000 HK$’000

FHET FAT

Salaries and other emoluments FehEMe 6,915 6,894
Contributions to defined contribution plan & %8 #t Z a2 &9 3% 723 966
Discretionary bonuses BB TEAT 137 2,572
7,775 10,432
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Year ended 31 March 2023 #% —ZE - = =H=+—HIFFZE

9.

10.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S 9.
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

The emoluments were paid to the five (2022: four) highest
paid individuals as follows:

EENEREEEME @

SNRAB(ZCZEZ—F:HB) &= H
ATZB&uT:

Emoluments band B < & = Number of individuals
A
2023 2022
—EBE-=F T
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FAT
Nil to HK$1,000,000 Z 21,000,000/ 7T 2 -
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 7T
21,500,0005% T 2 4
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,0017% 7T
%£2,500,0007% 7T 1 -
5 4

TAXATION 10.

The provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5%
(2022: 16.5%) of the estimated assessable profits for the Year,
except for one subsidiary of the Group which is a qualifying
corporation under the two-tiered Profits Tax rate regime.

For this subsidiary, the first HK$2 million of assessable profits
are taxed at 8.25% and the remaining assessable profits are
taxed at 16.5%. The provision of the Hong Kong Profits Tax
for this subsidiary was calculated on the same basis in 2022.

The Cayman Islands levies no tax on the income of the
Company and the Group.

BiE
EBFNEREEDRAFEHTERB
SR E16.5% (ZE=—4F : 16.5%) 54 -
HRFEHMAEH THAEEKLARHR
EE—EHBERT BRI -

2 M B A A 2 B2,000,000/8 JT % FE R R
i Tl K98.25% B Bt i 882 T 26 95 12 FE ER B
i K H916.5% BB - s M B A e /&
MEREBER-Z- —FIRARE LS

H o
EAr

RERBY THARARAEEZHA
BUWAEM TR IR

2023 2022
—E=-= —=E-
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FAT
Current tax BITHE

Hong Kong Profits Tax: ERRUES T
Current year REE - =
Under-provision for prior year BAEFERBETR 373 =
Total tax charge for the year AEERWMIBEEA 373 -
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10. TAXATION (Continued)

98

0. BiE (@)

Reconciliation of tax expense BEEIZHER 2023 2022
—E-= =
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAT
(Loss)/profit before taxation Br#iAT(B518), A (4,271) 388
Income tax at applicable tax rate of 16.5% % i& A % £16.5%
(2022: 16.5%) (ZZ - —F:16.5%)
FTi i (705) 64
Non-deductible expenses AR 1,241 30
Non-taxable income JEERET WA (91) =
Tax effect of temporary difference not AEREEEZEE BB E
recognised 115 -
Unrecognised tax losses KRR IE B 18 8 136
Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses BRAZAIRERNIBEEE 2
previously not recognised Mg e (568) (230)
Under-provision for prior years BAEFERETR 373 —
Tax expense for the year AEFEHIERLZ 373 =

The provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5%
(2022: 16.5%) of the estimate profits for the year, except for
the subsidiary of the Group which quality under the two-tiered
Profits Tax rate regime.

Under the two-tiered Profits Tax rate regime, the first HK$2
million of assessable profits are taxed at 8.25% and the
remain assessable profits are taxed at 16.5%. The provision
of the Hong Kong Profit tax of the subsidiary was calculated
at the same basis in 2022.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused
tax losses of approximately HK$11,344,000 (2022:
HK$14,742,000) available for offset against future profits. No
deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of the tax
losses due to the unpredictability of future profit streams.
Other losses may be carried forward indefinitely.

BERNGHBEEDIZEAFTEMTERM
SR H16.5% (ZE = —4F : 16.5%) 514 -
EHFEFEHRMAH A RNEE—FEHE
NEIBRAN

B 15 F) 15 T /@ AR ) - 52,000,000/ TR
JE 53 B i 7 #98.25% R B i 82 T 26 0 1%
JE RR % F H916.5% B B - M B R AH
EENGHBER _S-__FREARAE
P =

RBEBHER AEEBAXREABB
/&5 18 #911,344,000/8 T (=& = — F:
14,742,000/ 7o) 7] A LA S S5 R 2R A1) B o
BERHEEEERTMECHEEE
JRE 2 E AT R R FERIR o HAb &
B ER LS o
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Year ended 31 March 2023 #% —ZE - = =H=+—HIFFZE

11. (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings/(loss) per
share is as follows:

(a) Basic (loss)/earnings per share

1.

ZFR(BER) AR
SRERREERF(BER)HENT

(a) BREX(ER) BF

2023 2022
—EBE- =K g
HK$’000 HK$’000
T FHET
(Loss)/earnings attributable to owners RNARHEA AENM (BEB),/
of the Company (HK$’000) AR (FHET) (4,644) 388
Weighted average number L 38 AR hn S B (T AR)
of ordinary shares ('000) 493,000 463,822
Basic (loss)/earnings BRER(ER), BT
per share (HK cents) (B AL) (0.94) 0.08

(b)

Diluted (loss)/earnings per share

Diluted (loss)/earnings per share equals to basic loss per
share as there was no potential dilutive ordinary shares
in issue during the years ended 31 March 2023 and
2022.

12. DIVIDENDS

The directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend
for the year ended 31 March 2023 (2022: HKS$NIil).

12.

(b) EREE (FE) BA
REBE_Z_=FRK_FT-_—_F=
B=+—BLEFE SK#E(Es
B/ BINEREREARERE I
BRI EETEBEESZER
L@ o

R B

EEfESERNEBEEZE_ZT-_=F=AH

=t+—HIEFENEARE(ZZE-__F:
THEIT) e
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Year ended 31 March 2023 #% —ZFE - = =H=+—HIFFZE

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13. ¥1% - BRERRE
Furniture
and fixtures
HFER
EEgEE
HK$'000
FAT
Reconciliation of carrying amount REEZHER - B8FZ=-F=-=F=8
— year ended 31 March 2023 =+—HLFE
At the beginning of the year F 1 78
Depreciation e (78)
At end of the reporting period & 2R -
Cost BN 78
Accumulated depreciation and ENFERBEEE
impairment losses (78)
Reconciliation of carrying amount REEZHE -—B8FZ_ZFT__—F=A8
— year ended 31 March 2022 =+—BHLEE
At the beginning of the year F 1 198
Additions NE 67
Depreciation e (187)
At end of the reporting period ¥ 5 2R 78
Cost DN 1,059
Accumulated depreciation and B MERREEBR
impairment losses (981)
78

100
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Year ended 31 March 2023 &2 —F - =F=H=+—HIFFZ

14.

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 14, ERAEEE
The Group as lessee AEBEEREABEA
Disclosures of lease-related items: HEMHBER ZHKE:
2023 2022
—E-= —T-=
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FAT
At 31 March: R=BA=+—H:
Right-of-use assets CRAEEE
- Office premises - MR E 173 864
The maturity analysis, based on AEBEHEEEEEN KRR
undiscounted cash flows, of the Group’s BemEs 2 EBomT:
lease liabilities is as follows:
— Less than 1 year - VPR —%F 182 728
- Between 1 and 2 years - —EWF - 182
182 910
Year ended 31 March: BE=A=1+—HLFE:
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets FHREEEZITEER
- Office premises N 691 641
Lease interests HEF B 28 46
Income from subleasing right-of-use assets & fH{# A # & & 2 Ik A 291 294
Total cash outflow for leases MEZReRLBE 728 757
Addition to right-of-use assets ARETRAEEE = 1,383

2022/2023% %% HPEIRERBIHEREEARAD A
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Year ended 31 March 2023 # % —F -~ =%#=H=1—HIFF/ZE

14. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Continued)
The Group as lessee (Continued)

The Group leases an office premises for its daily operations.
Lease term is 2 years with an option to extend 1.5 years.

Restrictions or covenants

The lease imposes a restriction that, unless the approval is
obtained from the lessor, the right-of-use asset can only be
used by the Group and the Group is prohibited from selling or
pledging the underlying assets.

Extension options

The lease contract of office premises contains an extension
option. The extension option aims to provide flexibility to the
Group in managing the leased assets. The extension option
of the leases of office premises is normally exercised because
there are significant leasehold improvements.

14.

EREEE @
rEBFEREBEA@®
AEERE—ERANEREAREE -
HEMRAME  AINEELERILF -

BR 5 =R 22 5

AR E ARG - BIARLHEARLAE
FERAREEETHAKEER  BAXAKE
BAGHEXREREREE -

BRERE
WMOAEMENEHNESENEZR - &
HEBREE<ASEERERHES
E-ARFEEAMEEVEEE B
EYENBEHEEEBREETRE-

15. EQUITY INVESTMENT AT FAIR VALUE 15. BATFEFTAEMEEKENR
THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE ERE
INCOME
2023 2022
—E-= —EF- -
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHER FH& T
Equity securities BEERZEATFEFTAEME
designated at FVTOCI HW (PRI EAER) 2
(non-recycling) &N
— Unlisted securities —FETES 4,424 4,424
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive EAFHEFAEMEZAKESNEREE
income (FVTOCI) comprise equity securities which the Group BERNEERFEERENNRARES -
intends to hold for strategic purposes, and which the Group AR BB )25 T R R B 42 1 A RS M
has irrevocably elected at initial recognition to recognise in HERZDEER -
this category.
The Group held shares in Kin On Engineering (International) AEEFRERZIE(BR)ARAGZ
Limited, a company incorporated in Hong Kong SAR. B1p - ZARREBFETMATL -
As at 31 March 2023, the fair value of these Shares was RZZE-_=F=A=Z+—H ZEKR®H
approximately HK$4,424,000 (2022: HK$4,424,000). 2ZRFEL BL4,4240008 T (ZFE = =
F : 4,424,0007 7T) °
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Year ended 31 March 2023 #% —ZE - = =H=+—HIFFZE

16. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND 16. ESRHMEBEWREUREHNE
CONTRACT ASSETS -3
2023 2022
—E-=F —E-—
Note HK$’°000 HK$’000
Bt 5 FHET FAT
Trade receivables ESEWRE
Trade receivables from third parties % =77 2 & 5 E W A 4,576 7,051
Less: Impairment losses B R E B (664) -
16(a)(i) 3,912 7,051
Contract assets EHEE
Contract assets BHEE 1,905 626
Less: Impairment losses BB E B E (21) =
16(a)(ii) 1,884 626
Sub-total NEE 5,796 7,677
Other receivables H {th FE W FRIE
Other receivables H {th FE SR IE 100 =
Deposits and prepayments E& RIBARK 1,928 387
Due from an investee company JE U 45 1% & A 7] 16(b) 160 160
Due from ultimate holding company & Ui & #% 2 f% A 7] 16(b) - 12
2,188 559
7,984 8,236
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16. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND
CONTRACT ASSETS (Continued)
(@) Trade receivables and contract assets
(i) Trade receivables

As of the end of the reporting period, the ageing
analysis of trade receivables based on invoice date
and net of impairment losses, is as follows:

16.

ESRHEMERFIEUREGHNE
E (#)
(a) BEZEUREREGHNEE
() ESEWXE
HEREMA  REZAH
HERMBAEEENE S
FE SR R B DT T

2023 2022
—EC-=F -

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHERT FH& T

1-30 days 1E30K 1,368 2,538

31-60 days 31E60X 1,147 1,509

61-90 days 61E90K 474 828

91-180 days 91ZE180K 343 607

Over 180 days B iBE180K 580 1,569

3,912 7,051

The Group does not allow any credit period to its
customers.

Information about the Group’s exposure to credit
risks and impairment losses for trade receivables
is included in note 23.

AEBYARRMEEFPREHE
fA{E R -

EFBEASEEBEERR K
BHRERFEZRESBEZ
& BB R KT 5E23 o
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Year ended 31 March 2023 #% —ZE - = =H=+—HIFFZE

16. ESRHMEBEWREUREHNE
-3¢ )

(a) EZERFREBRENEE ()

16. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND
CONTRACT ASSETS (Continued)

(@) Trade receivables and contract assets

(Continued)

(i) Contract assets (i) EHEE
FNFEEETHREEA
BN BEFEHNNENE
ENZH(TRERRF R
MERLEENES) T :

The movements (excluding those arising from
increases and decreases both occurred within the
same year) of contract assets from contracts with
customers within HKFRS 15 during the year are as

follows:
2023 2022
—_E2-= —F-—

HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FA&T
At the beginning of the year REF] 626 -
Increase due to operation in the year F &8 g N 1,905 626

Impairment losses recognised during & A & 528 (B &5 18
the year (21) -
Transferred to trade receivables EE g5 EWNRIE (626) =
At the end of the reporting period MRS H R 1,884 626

During the year, contract assets increased in line

FR AHNEERKERRE

with the increase of operation as well as revenue
recognised.

The amount of contract assets is expected to be
recovered within one year.

(b) Due from ultimate holding company/
investee company

The amounts due are unsecured, interest-free and
repayable on demand.

As at 31 March 2022, the outstanding balance of
amount due from the ultimate holding company of which
directors, Poon Kai Kit Joe and Chan Ka Yee, own
equity interest was HK$12,000.

Ko B T 7R U &1 38 0 A P AR

oo e
BHAHWEENSBEN —
FRUE o
(b) BWBARERAT HKRE
ARMIE

AT EARERR REHERE

RZZEZZF=RA=+—8" Bl
BRERAR (EEERMAERRE
EHREEEREINREELASH ST
12,0007 7C °
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= F=H=1—HILFE

17. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

106

17. EZRHMENRE

2023 2022
—_E2-= —ZF-—
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5 FERT FAT
Trade payables B 5 EAR
Trade payables — third parties BEORNREBE-F=H 17(a - 569
Contract liabilities AHEBE 17(c) - —
- 569
Other payables H fth FE S KT
Accrued charges and FEETE H &Eﬂﬂﬁgﬁ FKIE
other creditors 5,179 1,261
Amount due to ultimate holding JE S B 82 4 IR A Bl 5K 1B 17(b)
company 2,160 —
7,339 1,261
7,339 1,830
(a) Trade payables (a) ESENSRKIE
As of the end of the reporting period, the ageing %Zﬁiﬁiﬁ}ﬁi BREBEZEAHTER
analysis of trade payables based on invoice date, is as ZEoEMNRIBERESTHOT :
follows:
2023 2022
—ZE—= —ET -
HK$’°000 HK$’000
FHET FAET
1-30 days 1£30K - 447
31-60 days 31E60X = =
61-90 days 61Z290K - 122
- 569

(b) Amount due to ultimate holding

company

The amount due to ultimate holding company is interest
free, unsecured and repayable on demand.

(b) BNZAEZERATR
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Year ended 31 March 2023 # % —ZE -~ =#=H=1—HIFF/&E

17. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Continued) 17. EZR Hb EARKRIE (&)
(c) Contract liabilities (c) BHEE
The movements (excluding those arising from increases FRAFEEBVBRELERFE
and decreases both occurred within the same year) of HHOEFEANGHNEEMNEE (T
contract liabilities from contracts with customers within BERRFEANEMERDEERN
HKFRS 15 during the year are as follows: 2E)mT
2023 2022
—_E2=-= —F-—
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT F& T
At the beginning of the year ) - 276
Recognition of revenue W 2% B 3R - (276)
Receipt of advances W B 38 1 3K - -
At the end of the reporting period R R4 iR - =
18. OTHER BORROWINGS 18. HtfE

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group received an
advance of HK$5.5 million (“Alleged Debt”). The proceeds of
the Group’s Alleged Debt were received through a subsidiary
of the Company. The then management had been unable to
reach certain former directors of the Company, who were also
directors (“Former Directors”) of the subsidiary, to obtain the
loan agreements and representations in relation to the Alleged
Debt.

On 20 July 2020, a statutory demand served on the Company
by a purported creditor, demanding the Company to settle the
Alleged Debt together with accrued interest in an aggregate
amount of approximately HK$5,830,000 within 3 weeks of the
service of the statutory demand. If no payment was made by
the end of the 3-week period, the purported creditor might
present a winding-up petition against the Company. On 23
September 2020, the Company received a writ of summons
issued in the Court of First Instance of the High Court of Hong
Kong by the same purported creditor. Pursuant to the writ,
the plaintiff is claiming from the Company the Alleged Debt
with accrued interest.

2022/2023% % HEIRBBITEREEERAA

WEBE-_E-_ZTF=ZA=+—HBItFE
7N & [E B UL 8 55,500,000 7T ([45 18
EED AEBERBEEMERENSE
BARR—EHNBARKE - TR
EEERETTAZWNBRARIEZESTHA
ARAIAMES(AMMES)MEBHE %M
ESERMERBHEIEEERANER -

R-ZZ_ZTF+A-+H BEEEA
MARBBHE-—NEEERERS B
RARREEBREEEXER =
ERANEEEBEREREFNEEK
#15,830,00078 7T ° fil 1 = fl 2 B 8 [R
HZAAREHNR  ZEEERASIE
HARARREBFREZF N _TF
NAZ+=R0 ARAAEER-—BREE
BABENBEESSERRDEAERE
MERSHK - REEASK RERAA
RAIREEBEHREREFNE -
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18.

19.

108

OTHER BORROWINGS (Continued)

Notwithstanding the above, the current management has
been unable to reach the Former Directors, on 31 July 2020
the Company issued and filed a writ of summons, together
with the statement of claim dated 30 July 2020, against the
Former Directors for breach of the directors’ duties in the High
Court of Hong Kong. An application was made to the court
to serve the writ out of jurisdiction on the Former Directors in
the People Republic of China. The process of serving writs
against certain former directors will take years as it involves
corresponding court(s) in China. There is no update as of the
date of this report.

For more details, please refer to the announcements of the
Company dated 24 January 2020, 31 July 2020, 31 August
2020 and 8 October 2020.

18.

Hh 8 (@)

BEY ARRKzEEERELHA
MEFNMSBHE BWNR-_ZE-_ZTFtA
=+ —B AR BEBSEERGE
REEBERANEETELTHFEEAS
R ERBSA-_ZT-_TE+A=1H
MEREMRE - KARIEREREBE
AEEERIIMMZSMEEMRAEA
RAMBOATES - AR F R EAHE
A  BEoMRERERTAESTNRER
BRENEST HEAREAHEMEELER -

EZHBHELHARTBERAE-_T=F
F—F-+mMWAE —E-FEFLA=F—
H ZZ_ZF N \A=+—-—BRZ-ZZZ
ZFE+ANBZRE -

LEASE LIABILITIES 19. HEERE
Minimum Present value of minimum
lease payables lease payments
BREEESMNK BEREENRZEE
2023 2022 2023 2022
—_Eg-= —E-F —E-= T F
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAET FET FHB T
Within one year —FR 182 708 180 700
In the second to fifth F_ERE(RKE
years, inclusive BEEMSE) - 182 - 180
Total minimum finance XEREHE
lease payments N GE 182 910 180 880
Less: Future finance BRI EE
charges == (2) (30) = -
Present value of lease HEETZHE
obligations 180 880 180 880
Less: Amount due for B ARTZ@EA
settlement within 12 NEMNZ £
months (shown under (RmEaET
current liabilities) 5l 7R) (180) (700)
Amount due for settlement B+ —1& A 1%
after 12 months Btz &5 - 180

The average incremental borrowing rate applied to lease
liabilities is approximately 5.125% (2022: 5.125%).

BRAREEAGENFHEESERFELY
55125% (ZE = 4 : 5125%) °
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20. SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVE 20. BAR#E
(a) Share capital (@) BR=A
2023 2022
—E-= T
No. of No. of
shares shares
’000 HK$’000 000 HK$’000
i gvig g i & B
TR FERT T iz FHExT
Authorised: EE
Ordinary shares of FRMmEC.01E T
HK$0.01 each ZEBR 2,000,000 20,000 2,000,000 20,000
Issued and fully paid: ERITRAR:
At beginning of the reporting iNE e R
period 493,000 4,930 418,000 4,180
Issue of shares by placing FERALE EITRMG
(Note) (Htat) - - 75,000 750
At end of the reporting period R ¥Rk & Hi K 493,000 4,930 493,000 4,930
Note: On 20 August 2021, 75,000,000 ordinary shares were issued Ki: RZEZ—FNAZ+H AQAR
by the Company pursuant to a placing agreement dated 2 BRAHR _ZT_—F/\AZHHOER
August 2021 at a placing price of HK$0.137 per share, giving & @RS EERISTHE T BT
net proceeds of HK$10,046,000, after settlement of relevant 75,000,000/% ¥ i A% - & £ 48 @ iR
share issue expenses of approximately HK$229,000. 5 3 17 X #9229,000/8 L% © AT 8
I8 F 5 /210,046,000 7T ©
(b) Reserves (b) #fE

i) Share premium

Under the Cayman Companies Law, the
share premium account is distributable to the
shareholders of the Company provided that
immediately following the date on which the
dividend is proposed to be distributed, the
Company will be in a position to pay off its debts
as they fall due in the ordinary course of business.

i)

R 43 3% 8

RIEFA S RRE  BDEE
RASKETARRRIR - IfE
REBZERSESRE 2B
% ARBAFENR —K
EB BRI E D B (E
BE -
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20. SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVE (Continued)
(b) Reserves (Continued)

110

ii)

iii)

Other reserve

Other reserve represented the sum of (i) the
difference between the issued share capital of
K&K Chartered Architect & Associates Limited
(which were transferred to Energetic Tree
Limited (“Energetic Tree”) pursuant to the group
reorganisation to rationalise the structure of
the Group in preparation for the listing of the
Company’s shares on GEM of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (“Group Reorganisation”))
and the newly issued share capital of Energetic
Tree to Energetic Way Limited (“Energetic Way”);
and (i) the difference between the issued share
capital and share premium of Energetic Tree and
the newly issued share capital of the Company to
Energetic Way and Alpha Advantage International
Limited as a result of the share swap pursuant to
the Group Reorganisation.

Fair value reserve (non-recycling)

The fair value reserve (non-recycling) comprises
the cumulative net change in the fair value of
equity investments designated of FVOCI under
HKFRS 9 that are hold at the end of the reporting
period.

20. BAR#HE @)

(b) &
ii)

iii)
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21. OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION 21. HttREREER
(a) Cash used in operations (a) EEFARE
2023 2022
—EZZ=F —ZT-=
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAT
(Loss)/profit before tax B i AT (&5 18) i F (4,271) 388
Adjustments for: o
Bank interest income HRAT A B A (1) —
Depreciation of property, plant and M- BEREHETE
equipment 78 187
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEENE 691 641
Impairment losses on trade B 5 e W SR I8 R B &5 18
receivables 664 —
Impairment losses on contract assets EHEERBEREIE 21 =
Loss on deemed disposal of BRIELEBE ATINE
associates B - 549
Interest expenses FMERX 28 430
Changes in working capital: LEESED:
Contract assets EHEE (1,279) =
Trade and other receivables B 5 N H b e W sk I8 846 (3,922)
Loan receivables e B R - 1,250
Trade and other payables B 5 N H A AT RO 3,349 534
Cash generated from operations BEMRGHES 126 57

2022/2023% %% HPEIRERBIHEREEARAD A 111



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e P BmRME

Year ended 31 March 2023 # % —F -~ =%#=H=1—HIFF/ZE

21. OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION 21. HttREREER @)
(Continued)
(b) Changes in liabilities arising from (b) METFHEENEEEE
financing activities
Details of the changes in the Group’s liabilities from ARERESDELNRELS
financing activities are as follows: FEMT

Amount due to

ultimate holding Lease Other
2023 company liabilities borrowings Total
ERBRER
“E-=% NEFE HEEE Hfp a5 @t
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TR TR
At beginning of the year REA - 880 5,500 6,380
Interest expenses fER% - 28 - 28
Net cash flows RENEFE 2,160 (728) - 1,432
At end of the year REX 2,160 180 5,500 7,840
Amount due
to ultimate
holding Lease Term Other
2022 company liabilities loan borrowings Total
T AR R
=t B ARRE  REAE  REER feER i
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAL TEL TAT TEL TEL
At beginning of the year REA - 208 8,284 5,500 13,042
Interest expenses FlBR% - 46 384 - 430
New lease entered during the ~ ERFI UM EE
year - 1,383 - - 1,383
Net cash flows ReMEFE S (757) (8,618) = (9,375)
At end of the year RER - 880 - 5,500 6,380
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22. SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTY 22, EXEBAIRS
TRANSACTIONS
In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed BRiceMBREREMIEDMBEE LIRS
elsewhere in the consolidated financial statements, the Group RESRIN REBR —BEBBIEPET
entered into the following material related party transactions SNATERMBRRS -

in the ordinary course of the Group’s business.

(a) Related party transactions (a) BBEEARS
Related party relationship Nature of transaction 2023 2022
B B 75 BR R REME —B-=F —ET_
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FET
A company controlled by the family Subcontracting charges - (883)
member of the Company’s director SBEEH
HARRESEHNRENEES 2 AF Consultancy fee received - 489
U BY A 5 &
Rental income - 24
e A

A company managed by the shareholder Consultancy fee received — -

of the ultimate holding company U BY A &
HRAERAFTBRRER 2 AR Rental income — 2
el A
(b) Key management personnel (b) EEEE A B FH

remuneration

Remuneration for key management personnel of the AEEBFZEBAEBNTH &
Group, including amounts paid to the Company’s FREEV B RERMFOMEER
directors and certain of the highest paid employees RAREEMIANEERAE
as disclosed in note 9 to the consolidated financial FaaFMEEINOMEOT :

statements, is as follows:

2023 2022

—g=-= —_g-_—
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FAET
Short-term employee benefits MHEEERA 8,635 10,160
Post-employment benefits BEIR 1248 7 723 966
9,358 11,126
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23.

114

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments
are price risk, liquidity risk and credit risk. The board of
directors generally adopts conservative strategies on its risk
management and limits the Group’s exposure to these risks
to a minimum. The Board of Directors reviews and agrees
policies for managing each of these risks and they are
summarised below:

Price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk mainly through its
investment in equity securities. The management manages
this exposure by maintaining a portfolio of investments with
different risk and return profiles. The Group’s equity price risk
is mainly concentrated on unlisted equity securities.

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based
on the exposure to equity price risk at the end of the reporting
period.

If equity prices had been 15% higher/lower (2022: 15% higher/
lower):

—  other comprehensive income for the year ended 31
March 2023 would increase/decrease by approximately
HK$664,000 (2022: increase/decrease by approximately
HK$664,000) as a result of the changes in fair value of
FVTOCI.

23. AR EEEERBEK

AEESHIAEEANTIEZRKRAERK
BB mBHEcRBREERR -EF
TREMNRTHRERELRR - 1
AEEFERNZERBRERE -&
EeRBTRBEEESHZERARMBR
Bt

Bt AR

AEETZ2RENBRAZE R EME
mRIERR EEREZEEFAREMD
BEENKREEASEEZAR - X&H
MRERREBZEPRIFLTEAES

AT 8 E 2 AT 0 AR 4% 3 5 B R 1) B (B
R B EE -

EREB LA THIE% (ZE -+
Tt/ T B15%)

— HBE-Z-_=F=R=+-—BHI*F
EMEm2EMUEBEREZAFE
FAEMEEKEN A FEEE S
A0,/ i 4 49664,000%8 T (= F
ZZF MR A #1664,0005%8
JT) °
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23. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 23. B EAMREEBE R B @)

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)
Liquidity risk

The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between
continuity of funding and flexibility. The Group’s policy is to
regularly monitor its liquidity requirements and its compliance
with lending covenants (if any), to ensure that it maintains
sufficient reserves of cash and adequate committed lines of
funding from major financial institutions to meet its liquidity
requirements in the short and longer term.

The remaining undiscounted contractual maturity profile of
the Group’s non-derivative financial liabilities and derivative
financial liabilities at the end of the reporting period, based on

REBE S ER
AEENEREREESRBEERERN
ZHEBGEFE AKREZBRAERE
ERPDESFTRREERZE(WE) W
BRER  UEFRAEES fﬁélx%vﬁ
BEERARRSRBERRERNAR
ERE- LAJ?&?H&?J%&EHHE’JwEJJéTﬁ

ok o

AEBEFRTESREERTEEZRAR
RBEEMRERAEBR AL BFZRTEA
HOBTRBRENIN BB AT -

the earliest date on which the Group is required to settle, is
summarised below:

Non-derivative financial liabilities ETESHER
Over 1 year
Within 1 year/ but within
On demand 2 years Total
-FR/ —FHE
BREXR MEUR @5t
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TET TERT TET
At 31 March 2023 R=ZB=-=fZHA=+—H
Lease liabilities HEBE 182 - 182
Accrued charges and other FE =t B A K H it FE 5 3R I8
creditors 5,179 - 5,179
Other borrowings H i & 5K 5,500 - 5,500
Amount due to ultimate holding BN &R AR KA
company 2,160 - 2,160
13,021 - 13,021
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23. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

23. B EKEEEEERBK (®)

Liquidity risk (Continued) REBEE AR @®)
Non-derivative financial liabilities (Continued) kTSR ERS(E)
Over 1 year
Within 1 year/ but within
On demand 2 years Total
—FR/ —FE
REX M E AR @t
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FET TAT THET
At 31 March 2022 R-—Z-—-%#=HA=+-H
Trade payables excluding BHRNFENBES
contract liabilities na’) 569 = 569
Lease liabilities HERRE 728 182 910
Accrued charges and other FE 5t B R K H it FE 15 3R I8
creditors 1,261 - 1,261
Other borrowings H i & 5K 5,500 - 5,500
8,058 182 8,240
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23. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 23. AR EEEERBX #®)

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)
Credit risk

The carrying amount of trade and other receivables and
bank balances recognised on the consolidated statement
of financial position, which is net of impairment losses,
represents the Group’s exposure to credit risk without taking
into account the value of any collateral held or other credit
enhancements.

Trade receivables and contract assets

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by
the individual characteristics of each customer rather than
the industry or country in which the customers operate and
therefore significant concentrations of credit risk primarily
arise when the Group has significant exposure to individual
customers.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had a
concentration of credit risk as 10% (2022: 16%) and 42%
(2022: 37%) of the total trade receivables were due from its
largest customer and the five largest customers respectively.

The Group applies a simplified approach in calculating ECL
for trade receivables and contract assets and recognises
a loss allowance based on lifetime ECL at each reporting
date and has established a provision matrix that is based
on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-
looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic
environment. The expected loss rate used in the provision
matrix is calculated for each category based on actual credit
loss experience over the past years and adjusted for current
and forward-looking factors to reflect differences between
economic conditions during the period over which the
historical data has been collected, current conditions and
the Group’s estimate on future economic conditions over the
expected lives of the receivables. There was no change in the
estimation techniques or significant assumptions made during
the year.

FERR
HAVMBRARTERNES R EME
Yok B A B8R 1T 48 £ &9 BR B (F0 BR R
BEEREAKRETENEERR M
A 8 51 e BT 45 {E (AT HK 40 4 s B At {5 B 4
B2 BE -

BESRUHNEARENEE

FEERBRERETBEANEEARESE
ERENEFEEEANRR - Ak &
SEHBENEERRIIEXERRM
FEPREMEITE LB R E B &

By 488
Fa.

RIFEHR AEBRE S ERNKE
REZEFEERBREFED R A10% (=
T = —F:16%) K42% (ZF = — F:
37%) BARBREREBEEAEFPEAAE
}50

AEBRBBCT A EE SR RRA
REMBENTRHREEER YNEE
BEAREEHMEHREESERERER
B IRBEHEGFEEBBELREY
BEBEE YREBARKBERERTE
MAERRELRAE - BEEEPER
MERABERXDREBELFNERE
EERRRATREMS  LHHE
AR AR RETTHAE  UREREK
SBEBEARMNLBENR - ERKR
URAEEHELRBERERRAFRANK
REERAN G ZHANER - AFE
MAEFRMRKERABRRL RELERE -
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23. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 23.

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued)
Trade receivables and contract assets (Continued)

Trade receivables

As at 31 March 2023

Bt %5 I B ' R B % UK ()

FERE @
ESEEHRERSNEE(H)
HEEEYHA

R-EBE-_==ZH=+—H

Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
EHEEER HEREE BERE
% HK$’000 HK$’000
FTHER FTAER
1-30 days past due #@E1Z30R 1.08% 1,383 (15)
31-60 days past due #@H31260R 1.12% 1,160 (13)
61-90 days past due BHE61Z90H 1.04% 479 (5)
91-180 days past due #HEI91Z=180H 1.72% 349 (6)
Over 180 days past due #HI180H LA £ 51.87% 1,205 (625)
4,576 (664)

As at 31 March 2022

R-_ZTE-_—_F#=A=+—H

Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
HHEEE BEEE BiEEE
% HK$'000 HK$’'000
FHET FHET

1-30 days past due #H1E30H
31-60 days past due #H31=60H
61-90 days past due #H61E90H
91-180 days past due #H91E=180H
Over 180 days past due #H180B A £

= 2,538 =
= 1,509 =
= 828 =
= 607 =
= 1,569 =

7,051 =
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23. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)
Trade receivables and contract assets (Continued)

Contract assets

As at 31 March 2023

23. B EEEEEERBR @)

EER K@)
ESERRERANEE ()
BHEE

R-EBE-_==H=+—H

Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
HHBBEX HIREE BEEE
% HK$’000 HK$’000
THET THET
Within 1 year —&FR 1.10% 1,905 (21)

As at 31 March 2022

R-—ZT-_—_F#=H=+—H

Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
EHBEX BEREE BRERE
% HK$’000 HK$'000
THET THET
Within 1 year —FN - 626 -

Except as indicated above, the impairment losses on trade
receivables and contract assets as a result of applying the
ECL model was insignificant for the years ended 31 March
2023 and 2022.

BIAERMREN BHE_ZT_=FKk=
T —_F=ZA=+—HUEFE AEA
BHEEFBEEAMEENE S EKRK

BRAHWEENREBRLTERX -
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23.

120

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

Amounts due from an investee company and ultimate
holding company

The Group considers that the amounts due from investee
company and ultimate holding company have low credit
risk based on the borrowers’ strong capacity to meet its
contractual cash flow obligations in the near term and low
risk of default. Impairment on amounts due from these related
companies is measured on 12-month ECL and reflects the
short maturities of the exposures.

In estimating the ECL, the Group has taken into account
the historical actual credit loss experience and the financial
position of the counterparties by reference to, among
others, their management or audited accounts, adjusted for
forward-looking factors that are specific to the debtors and
general economic conditions of the industry in which the
counterparties operate, in estimating the probability of default
of these financial assets, as well as the loss upon default
in each case. The management of the Group considers the
ECL of these financial assets to be insignificant after taking
into account the financial position and credit quality of the
counterparties.

Other receivables

Other receivables is closely monitored by the directors of the
Company. The directors of the Company consider that the
expected credit loss of other receivables are immaterial to the
consolidated financial statements.

Bank balances

The credit risk on bank balances is low because the
counterparties are high credit rating.

There was no change in the estimation techniques or
significant assumptions made during the year.

Fair values

All financial instruments are carried at amounts not materially
different from their fair values as at 31 March 2023 and 2022.

23. AR EEEZERBEK @)

FERR @)
EUHBREAARBRERATZHE

FEERR ERNERAEERARNET
BHRERNEEENEIBARARENR
BEE At BEKRERA KRR
ERARZFENEERRRE - %%
88 Bt /2 ) B MK R R RO R (B A121E A TR 1
EEFREAFE RBUTEHAR -

EEFBRHEEERE  AKECEZE
ErEREEEREREEFIOMB
A 2E(HFEB)EEEERLE
TR B - AR E B AR E B ATIE £ E
ERBFOIREMETENRBLAEMNR
MELRE  UEFZEEREENE
HBEUARBEBATHREOER - &
EEHFINPBHEMRAREEEERER
AEEERERARRESEREENTEY
FEEBRYTERXN-

H fth & WK TR
HMEWRIBEARARESZTEYEE
ARBEFR R EMEYKBENERE
EERESEAMBHRRELTEKX -

R 1T 45 BR
HREFINEEFNFARS - FilRTT
HEHENEERBRERE -

REFNBETRMAERARRILEES -

ATE

MBS TANKAEE S -_=FK
—E- —FZA=+-—HWATFEILE
EREE-

China Come Ride New Energy Group Limited Annual Report 2022/2023



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e IS ERAR MR

Year ended 31 March 2023 # % —ZE -~ =#=H=1—HIFF/&E

23. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

Fair value measurement

(i) Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair
value

Fair value hierarchy

The following table presents the fair value of the Group’s
financial instruments measured at the end of the
reporting period on a recurring basis, categorised into
the three level fair value hierarchy as defined in HKFRS
13, Fair value measurement. The level into which a fair
value measurement is classified is determined with
reference to the observability and significance of the
inputs used in the valuation technique as follows:

—  Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured using only
Level 1 inputs i.e. unadjusted quoted prices in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities at
the measurement date.

—  Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured using Level
2 inputs i.e. observable inputs which fail to meet
Level 1, and not using significant unobservable
inputs. Unobservable inputs are inputs for which
market data are not available.

—  Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured using
significant unobservable inputs.

23. AR EEBEZERBEK @)

AT EIE

U]

BRAVPHEFEBZERMEERERS

ARFPEEREE
TREJNNKREMRRE LMK
HEERF13 - XA EABHA
EAFEEARBN=ZAEREL
FURAFEFEZARESRT
ARF¥E- - AFEFEMBRH
DNE2REGMERMPERzE A
FEZAEEEEREREMETE -
ERERRENT:

- E-—HREE2AFERRA
FE—MBWABRBFGE &
AERRERMSTERE
EXRRBEZIARAKABRE -

- BoRFEE-AFERBS
R AEEBEEE  BIREE
BFEE -z BRE AE
B RTeRAEATATH
R AEE - T BEHA
BEAELINEMBEIEZ
BAIER °

- F=RABERAFERARE
RTABRBARBFE -

Fair value measurement as at
31 March 2023 categorised into

R-ZB-=f=ZA=+-RETHIEZ
A¥EH &
Fair value at
2023 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
—E-=F
AN | E—& F-R F=R
HK$’000 HK$’'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TR TR THER TR
The Group NS |
Other investments (note 15): Hii% & (i it15)
Unlisted securities EEmESR 4,424 - - 4,424
No movement of fair value of the unlisted securities AR AFEESHITTE KX t
was recognised as the changes of fair value was RIERIELITEEHNLDNFEEES o

insignificant.

2022/2023% % HEIRBBITEREEERAA

121



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e SRR MR

Year ended 31 March 2023 #% —F ==

23. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

A=+—HIFFE

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

Fair value measurement

(Continued)

(i) Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair

value (Continued)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

23. B EKEEEEERBK (®)

AT E B

() BATEHNERZSMAERAM
(#)
AFESHEH ()

Fair value measurement as at
31 March 2022 categorised into

(i)

RZTZZF= ﬂ_+*HB@rT§\J”*
NTEHE
Fair value at
_f_2922 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
T2ATE —8 -4 £=4
HK$'000 HK$OOO HK$'000 HK$'000
TAEL TAEL TExL AL
The Group AEE ,
Other investments (note 15): Hiwik & (ffit15) :
Unlisted securities FLEmEH 4,424 - - 4,424
During the year ended 31 March 2023, there was no BE_T_-—F#=-A=-+-HLF
transfer between Level 1 and Level 2, or transfer into or B E-BMEAFT_QIAZHET
out of Level 3. EAMER TEEE=-HKITHE
A sk E i o
Fair value of financial assets and liabilities carried (i) AYHFRATFEIENEBEER
at other than fair value EENATE
The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial instruments RZEZ=Fk_FT-__F=H
carried at cost or amortised cost were not materially =+—8  NEE KK KEH
different from their fair values as at 31 March 2023 and RAAEN R TANKREEHSR

2022.

(iii)

Reconciliation of assets measured at fair value

HAFEZAABEANEZER -

(iii) REF=REAFEFENEE

based on level 3: ZH R
2022
—E-—fF
HK$'000
FHET
At 1 April 2021 R-B——&mA—H _
Transfer from interest in an associate upon ~ RIBELEREARB 2 QAR MR
deemed disposal 4,187
Total gains recognised in other FOHE fth 2 TH U 55 T SR ) W AR RE
comprehensive income 237
At 31 March 2022 and RZBZZF=A=+—HEK
31 March 2023 —_ZE_=f=H=+—H 4,424
The total gains recognised in other comprehensive B 2 UK 5 R RR A W e AR R

income are presented in fair value gain on equity

investment in the statement
comprehensive income.
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ZF=A=1—HIFFE

2FC

Year ended 31 March 2023

23. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)
Fair value measurement (Continued)

(iv)

Disclosure of valuation process used by the Group

and valuation techniques and inputs used in fair
value measurements at 31 March 2022 and 2023:

The Group’s directors are responsible for the fair value
measurements of assets and liabilities required for
financial reporting purposes, including level 3 fair value
measurements. Discussions of valuation processes and
results are held between the financial controller and the

board of directors at least twice a year.

Level 3 fair value measurements

23. B EEEEEERBR @)

AT E B

(iv)

BREASEFRAGERFRR =

E__FER-_FB_=F=Z/A=+-—
BAFEFERMANGERNTR

BWAER:
AEEBESAEVBRRAARTE

ZAERBEATENE

B

E=RATFENE- HEEFR
BRZHREMBEERESR
B GERTAR -

E=RAFENE

Effect on
fair value for
Valuation Unobservable increase of Fair value
Description technique inputs Range inputs 2023
A E B A\ TE B 15 i ¥ AFHE
i at & 18 3 i WAER #E AQAFENFE —T-=
HK$’000
FTHER
Unlisted securities Adjusted Net Discount of Lack 5% Decrease 4,424
Assets Value of Marketability
E iR RAREE = 3% i e

F B

&
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24.

25.

124

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The objectives of the Group’s capital management are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern
and to provide returns for shareholders. The Group manages
its capital structure and makes adjustments according to
changes in economic conditions, including payment of
dividend to shareholders, return of capital to shareholders
or issue of new shares or sale of assets to reduce debts. No
changes were made in the objectives, policies and procedures
during the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022.

The Group is required to maintain a sufficient public float of
25% for the Company’s shares. The Group has maintained a
sufficient public float to comply with the GEM Listing Rules
throughout the year.

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF
THE COMPANY

Pursuant to the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, the statement of financial position of
the Company and the movements in its reserves are set out
below:

24. EXEHE

AREBERAEEMNEZAREREEE
BHECENEIRABREIRERR -
AEEERHE AL BT R ELEMNK
NHEBELAE  BERKREIMR
B MBRRE XA E AR R ZETHRD
FELEEERBER - B2 KR KRR
FREE-_ZE-_=Fk-_ZFT-__F=A
=+ HALEFEYETMAMES -

REBEEF T IO KRR )25%H)
RRFRE -AEE2FHAFEHIR
R A EFGEM E A A -

25. AQT B HE MR T

REFERAGINKERE  AAF
MBEMRAREEFHEZESNOT

2023 2022
—E-=F —Eg-
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FABT
Non-current assets IERBEE
Investment in subsidiaries HERKB AR 2 =
Equity investment at fair value EAFEFAHEMZ2EUK
through other comprehensive M) AR IR &
income 4,424 4,424
4,426 4,424
Current assets REBEE
Deposits and prepayments e RIEM K 63 63
Amount due from subsidiaries JE W Y B A B 3R IR 96 6,097
Bank balances and cash RITEHR LIRS 92 301
251 6,461
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25. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF
THE COMPANY (Continued)

25.

DT B AR R 2R ()

2023 2022
—E-=F —E-—
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAT
Current liabilities nEAE
Other payables H {th FE {5 5B 4,473 1,181
Amount due to ultimate holding JE AT fx BRI AR A R FRIE
company 2,160 -
Amount due to subsidiaries JE 11 Bft BB 2 B 3k IE 806 -
Other borrowings Hfth & 3k 5,500 5,500
12,939 6,681
Net current liabilities REBEEFEE (12,688) (220)
Total assets less current HEERRBAEGE
liabilities (8,262) 4,204
Net (liabilities)/assets (BE) EBEZFE (8,262) 4,204
Capital and reserves BEXRfHE
Issued capital BEITRA 4,930 4,930
Reserves ik (13,192) (726)
(Capital deficiency)/total equity (B, #HES B8 (8,262) 4,204

BHERARER-_Z_MEWA+NR
REESHERETE XYHATES

The statement of financial position was approved and
authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 18 April

2024 and signed on its behalf by REREE
Director Director
EF EF
Chung Yuk Lun Cao Dayong
EB B BKREB
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25. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF
THE COMPANY (Continued)

126

25. AT B AR R 3R (4

(@) Movements of the reserves (a) EEEH
Fair value
Share  reserve (non-  Accumulated Total
premium recycling) losses reserve
AEERE
RORE (FIBAER) R EE REAR
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEL TEL THL TEL
At 1 April 2021 R-E-—4£mA—A 33,785 - (40,442) (6,657)
Issue of share by placing BREEETRMN 9,525 = = 9,525
Share issue expenses R ETRY (229) = = (229)
Loss and total comprehensive ~ REEBER 2 AN/
income/(loss) for the year (BE)8HE - 237 (3,602) (3,365)
At 31 March 2022 R-B--—%£zfA=+-A 43,081 237 (44,044) (726)
At 1 April 2022 W-ZE--#mMA-A 43,081 237 (44,044) (726)
Loss and total comprehensive ~ AEEEERZHEEAE
loss for the year - - (12,466) (12,466)
At 31 March 2023 R-ZE-_=#=H=+-H 43,081 237 (56,510) (13,192)
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26. SUBSIDIARIES 26. MtEBATE]
Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries at 31 March ARRIR-ZZBE_=ZF=ZA=Z+—HBH=E
2023 are as follows: EMBRRFEET:

Proportion of ownership interest

RERAAEHEADNL
Particular of
issued and
paid-up
capital/ Group’s
Place and date Place of registered effective Held by Held by
Name of the company of incorporation operation capital interest the Company asubsidiary  Principal activities
BRARARE
EX/AMEL REEH KRF WEAR
GRS EMAIBHNAE EEBY WEEER ERES KAEZEZ BEzER  TTEER
Energetic Tree Limited British Virgin Islands  note (i) US$100 100% 100% - Investment holding
ERERREE M3 () 100Xt REZR
Lucky Unicorn Holdings Limited British Virgin Islands  note (i) HKS$1 100% 100% - Investment holding
REEBRES igd() 18T REER
Golden Legend Consortium Limited  British Virgin Islands  note (i) US$1,000 100% 100% - Investment holding
ERERRES M) 1,000% 7T RERR
K & K Chartered Architect & Associates Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$2 100% - 100%  Provision of comprehensive
Limited architectural and structural
engineering consultancy
services
BREEBERARAR £ i 2R T REZANBENERIR
HARB
Global Crown Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$1 100% = 100%  Provision of comprehensive
architectural and structural
engineering consultancy
services
£ ) 18T ?ﬂ,&@ﬁ’mﬁﬂ%ﬂ%ﬁi
BRI
Golden Legend Capital Limited Hong Kong Note (i) HK$10,000 100% = 100%  Investment holding
EEERBRAA i ML) 10,000 ¢ REER
K &K Chartered Architect & Associates Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$1 100% = 100%  Provision of comprehensive
(HK) Limited architectural and structural
engineering consultancy
services
BHRRLER (BB BRAR N BE 18T RUELEAMBENERIR
EEL
Note: B it -
i) These companies are investment holding companies which i) ZERAHARREERAR  WEI
have no specific principal place of operation. EREELEME -
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MBERE

RESULTS EE
2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
“E-NE CZE-EF —T--§ T -f CZEBCZ=fF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FHR FiET FHT FHL FERT
REVENUE g 45,848 29,779 41,246 35,816 45,369
Cost of services rendered PR 4 AR 75 B AR (40,664) (35,501) (37,977) (25,511) (38,320)
Other income/(losses) A/ (BB 376 344 2,610 (197) 924
General and administrative expenses —BRROTBEY (10,500) (13,572) (14,663) (9,290) (11,531)
Profit/(loss) from operations TR/ (BR) (4,940) (18,950) (8,784) 818 (3,558)
Finance cost BB AR (199) (673) (967) (430) (28)
Share of results of an associate PEBE DR EE ©) (2,484) (2,943) = -
Write-off of loan receivables HMEENER - (10,159) 1,250 = -
Impairment losses on trade receivables 2 5 & I 3018 (B 16 18 - = = = (664)
Impairment losses on contract assets AKX BEMEEE - (2,008) (1,714) = (1)
Loss on derecognition of subsidiaries R It HERKBAR ZEE - (41) = = -
PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAXATION  BR#ATEF /(5 8) (5,148) (34,310) (13,158) 388 (4,271)
Income tax (expense)/credit FeREs)/Ee 1) (24) 17 = (373)
PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR, ERAAREEAELY
ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF A )]
THE COMPANY (5,155) (34,334) (13,141) 388 (4,644)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) for ~ FRE 2 E N/
the year (B#) - - - 237 -
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/ ERAAFEEAEH
(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR, 2EKE /(BB EE
ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF
THE COMPANY (5,155) (34,334) (13,141) 625 (4,644)
(LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE SR(EE) /B
Basic and diluted EAREE (1.23) centsfll  (8.21) centsfll  (3.14) centsfli  0.08 centsfll (0.94) centsl
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREE
2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
“E-NE ZZZ%F 4§ CFT--F C"BC=f
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
THL TAL TAL TETL THT
Total assets BEE 55,109 32,011 13,197 16,718 16,883
Total liabilities Bafk (9,797) (21,033) (15,360) (8,210) (13,019)
Net assets/(liabilties) EE/(BFE)FE 45,312 10,978 (2,169) 8,508 3,864
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